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Our vision is of a world where everyone  
gets the help they need in a crisis.
Our mission is to mobilise the power of humanity so that individuals 
and communities can prepare for, deal with and recover from crises.

More than 21,500 volunteers and 4,100 staff work together to fulfil our vision and mission 
both here and overseas.

We help hundreds of thousands of people cope with all kinds of crises – from disasters and 
conflicts to individual injuries and other personal challenges. Our work includes support in 
emergencies, refugee support, independent living services and first aid and humanitarian 
education. The combined effect is to help both individuals and communities prepare for, cope 
with and recover from a range of crises.

We operate both in our own right and as part of the International Red Cross and Red 
Crescent Movement, the world’s largest humanitarian network, which has more than 17 
million volunteers across 190 countries.

Our corporate strategy Refusing to Ignore People in Crisis 2015 -19 sets out the framework 
for our core objectives for the next four years.
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2015 was a year of significant achievement 
for the British Red Cross. We completed 
the first year of our five-year strategy – 
Refusing to Ignore People in Crisis and  
I am incredibly proud of all that  
we accomplished. 

In the UK we have enhanced the 
independence and wellbeing of thousands 
of people facing health crises. We worked 
with the NHS to free up beds and helped 
people re-adjust to life at home after a stay 
in hospital. We taught over 247,000 people 
life-saving first aid skills, equipping them 
with the knowledge and confidence to save 
a life. We also helped hundreds cope with 
the effects of severe flooding and supported 
them as they start to rebuild their lives. 

Overseas we have helped communities 
affected by major international emergencies 
including the devastating earthquake in 
Nepal, the Ebola outbreak in West Africa, 
the ongoing conflict in Syria and the refugee 
crisis in Europe.  

2015 was also a year when the charity 
sector as a whole looked at how we 
maintain healthy relationships with our 
supporters. To maintain confidence in how 
we raise and use our funds a review of our 
fundraising practice was our highest priority 
and we welcome the opportunity to shape 
new ways of working that will improve 
accountability and renew trust in charities.

Our magnificent volunteers and staff are the 
lifeblood of our organisation and I would like 
to take this opportunity to thank all of them. 
Their safety and security is paramount 
and we have reviewed and strengthened 
the ways we work to ensure their safety 
in difficult and sometimes dangerous 
situations. We also carried out a rigorous 
independent review of our governance 
and made consequential changes that 
will ensure we remain compliant and well 
managed in the future. These are essential 
elements of running a strong organisation 
ready to respond quickly to emergencies at 
home and abroad.  



We will continue to play a leading role 
within the International Red Cross and Red 
Crescent Movement and will do all we can 
to bring our colleagues across the globe 
closer together on key issues that affect us 
all such as migration, international disaster 
response and strengthening the volunteering 
infrastructure which underpins our activity. 

In 2015 the Movement celebrated 50 years 
of our fundamental principles: humanity, 
impartiality, neutrality, independence, 
voluntary service, unity and universality. 
They reiterate the Movement’s commitment 
to helping those most in need, regardless of 
their beliefs or backgrounds, while never 
taking sides. This was an important moment 
for us as we remembered our heritage and 
looked forward to an exciting future where 
we support more people, more effectively 
than ever.  
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The refugee crisis that hit the headlines 
in 2015 has become one of the defining 
issues of our time. We launched an 
emergency appeal and I visited Sicily to see 
how the Red Cross look after people, often 
exhausted and traumatised, as they arrive. 

Across Europe volunteers are working 
tirelessly to provide medical care, essential 
information and supplies to help the people 
making desperate journeys. 

Many refugees and asylum seekers turn to 
us for support here in the UK – we are now 
the largest voluntary sector provider in the 
UK but I know there is still much to do to. 
I am committed to improving the lives of 
vulnerable refugees and migrants through 
our services and by giving them a voice 
with MPs and policy makers.

This winter, UK volunteers were out in 
miserable weather. I joined a team in 
Preston to hear about our response as 
flood water tore through communities. 
People were forced to abandon their homes 
and their lives were in turmoil. But they 
knew they could rely on our volunteers at 
this distressing time.

I was so impressed by the bravery of our 
volunteers at the Shoreham Airshow crash. 
They were the first on the scene, giving 
life-saving first aid at this tragic event. They 
did everything they could to help spectators 
and the pilot, even as the plane caught fire. 
All the training in the world can’t prepare 
you for the trauma of such an event. These 
volunteers are truly remarkable people.

We supported more patients and NHS 
health care teams than ever. Returning 
home after a stay in hospital should be a 
time for celebration. But for many who live 
alone it can be daunting and lonely. Our 
teams help patients return home quickly 
and safely, making sure they settle in to 
their routines during their next few weeks. 

I have been so proud to meet so many 
fantastic volunteers and staff and see their 
inspiring work on the front line across the 
UK and beyond. In Nepal, communities 
were devastated by a massive earthquake 
in April. I was so moved when I visited the 
area, where I met volunteers from the Nepal 
Red Cross. I was humbled to hear that 
although many lost their homes and loved 

Mike Adamson 
Chief executive
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ones, they still helped their neighbours in 
the aftermath. 

We helped thousands of survivors to find 
missing family and stay healthy through this 
life-changing experience with clean water, 
health education and community toilets.

I was also incredibly impressed by the staff 
and volunteers in West Africa. They fought 
to stop the spread of Ebola in their towns 
and villages in heartbreaking circumstances. 
Our generous supporters raised money to 
fund their work and sent brave UK nurses 
and aid workers to help.

One of the reasons I’m so passionate 
about this organisation is that we don’t just 
respond to the disasters in the headlines. 
One of our key priorities for 2016 is to 
better support Red Cross societies in 
countries that face challenges such as 
conflicts and droughts. 

You won’t hear about this work on the news 
– but I can assure you, it will save lives.

I believe that everyone at the charity should 
do their bit to fundraise for our work – and 
the chief executive is no exception. That’s 

why I grabbed my trainers and did the Great 
North Run. I enjoyed meeting so many 
dedicated supporters – all braving blood, 
sweat and blisters to help people in need.

I also drilled headlights onto a Land Rover 
Defender that was auctioned to raise funds 
(so look for one with a wobbly headlight…).

We need to respond to changing 
needs, new funding challenges and the 
opportunities created by technology. We 
are reshaping the way we work to be as 
efficient and effective as possible. I am 
determined to create a clear line of sight 
from people in crisis right the way through 
to the board. 

We are privileged to be part of this incredible 
humanitarian Movement that provides life 
changing support and restores dignity when 
people are at their lowest point. 

I’d sincerely like to thank all our supporters. 
You are a vital part of the Red Cross. I know 
that together we can continue to help those 
who need us.
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The trustees present their 

report and accounts for 2015
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Around the clock and around the world,  
the Red Cross is helping people in crisis.

Read some stories from a typical day  
knowing that as you turn the pages,  
more and more people are getting help.

The trustees present their 

report and accounts for 2015
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The refugee crisis

Maria is on the move again. 

She doesn’t know when 
she will be able to stop.

 
She knows she left her home 
far behind. 

She knows her life has 
changed forever. 

She doesn’t know when, 
where or even if she will see 
her mother and father again. 
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Red Cross worker Hamida 
arrives at the hostel for  
asylum seekers.

She carries a bag of warm 
clothes and a buggy for the 
children. Perhaps more 
importantly, Hamida brings  
words of comfort and support  
for the men and women 
separated from their families and 
without a place to call home.

A refugee’s journey is often dangerous, 
desperate and fraught with legal 
issues. Families are torn apart as 
people are driven away from their 
homes by conflict, persecution and 
intolerable living conditions.

Without effective safe and legal routes, 
people make dangerous journeys 
across land and sea to reach European 
countries, looking to secure a future for 
themselves and their families. 

In the UK

The number of people using our refugee 
services in the UK has increased by 39% this 
year, to 27,645 people. The most common 
support we provided was for destitution 
(extreme poverty where people cannot 
meet their basic needs for food, shelter 
etc). As well as helping these people get 
food, shelter and legal support, we have 
been seeking changes to government policy 
to ensure they are treated with humanity, 
fairness and are able to access the help they 
are legally entitled to.

Thousands of people experience serious 
problems with the asylum system. We want 
to see an effective and efficient asylum 
system that treats people with dignity and 
humanity. We are continuing to campaign 
for refugees to be given longer than 28 days 
to move in to work or mainstream benefits 
once they have been granted refugee status. 
Many are unable to get the paperwork they 
need in time and end up unable to work and 
without any financial support.

>  88% of service users who gave us 
feedback would recommend  
our refugee services*

>  55% of those we helped came from six 
countries: Eritrea, Sudan, Iran, Syria, 
Iraq, Afghanistan. The majority of these 
have been beset by conflict  
in recent years.

07AM

*We began routine surveys in 2015 and will collect more 
data in 2016.
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I live to help people. 
Wednesday is my favourite  
day of the week because my 
work with the Red Cross is  
the best thing I am doing.

Reem Ahmed, 
Refugee and Red Cross volunteer in Derby.



Using our 2015 report Not so straight 
forward we have been calling for free legal 
aid for refugee family union to be restored 
in England and Wales (it currently applies 
in Scotland and Northern Ireland only). 
And despite some changes to the way the 
Azure payment card for asylum seekers 
works, we continued to call for the card to 
be scrapped. For both practical purposes 
and their dignity, asylum seekers should 
be supported with cash payments.

Our public campaigns have sought to 
reduce the stigma faced by refugees and 
asylum seekers by promoting ‘Facts not 
Fear’. In the classroom, our humanitarian 
education teams have been working 
with children of all ages to improve their 
understanding of who a refugee might be 
and why they need help.

Finding missing family

At any one time our family tracing 
volunteer and staff teams are helping 
around 2,500 people. In 2015 we found 
464 people, most of whom we were able 
to happily put back in touch with their 
families. We also opened 1,329 new 
cases. The top five sources of family 
tracing cases in 2015 were:

> Afghanistan – 478 
> Syria – 64 
> Somalia – 64 
> World War Two – 52 
> Iraq – 50

Helping Syrians to settle in the UK

As a major provider of refugee services 
in the UK, many local councils sought 
our help for the government’s Syrian 
Vulnerable Persons Resettlement scheme 
in which 1,000 refugees were re-homed 
in the UK before Christmas. Our staff and 
volunteers welcomed families on arrival at 
UK airports and supported them to adjust 
to life in their new country.

14
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1,000  
REFUGEES  
WERE RE-HOMED 

IN THE UK



Europe Refugee Crisis Appeal

Our Europe Refugee Crisis Appeal 
raised £4.5m to help people in 
2015, with a further £5.4m from 
the government’s Department for 
International Development (DFID). 

The money is being used by the 
International Red Cross and Red 
Crescent Movement to support 
refugees and migrants both across 
Europe and in the UK.

>  The Hellenic Red Cross of 
Greece and the Italian Red 
Cross are working with charity 
and government partners to 
support those arriving on their  
shores each week.

>  Many European Red Cross National 
Societies are supporting people on the 
main transit routes through the Balkan 
states with essential food, water, first 
aid, healthcare and emotional support.

>  The British Red Cross has scaled 
up our refugee services to meet 
increasing demand so we are able to 
help more people find food, clothing 
and a place to stay. We are helping 
them to complete complex legal 
paperwork and find their families.

REPORT AND ACCOUNTS  2015 15
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The Red Cross saved my life. 
You saved my future. You told me 
where to go, what to do. I’d be 
homeless without the Red Cross. 
I’d have nothing.

It’s a miracle! The Red Cross  
even helped me get furniture.  
The flat is only one big room with 
a bath and kitchen, but I like it.  
I don’t want more. I feel happy 
and settled.

Hana was a lawyer in Syria. Here in the 
UK, she arrived as a refugee with nothing. 
But with the right support and advice she 
now lives in a small studio flat in Bristol.
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UK emergency response

Cecil is standing in what used 
to be his living room.

 
In the early hours of the morning he 
watched his home and everything 
he owns go up in flames. 

His precious keepsakes, 
photographs and memories  
are lost in the ash.

All that remains are the clothes 
he is wearing.

REPORT AND ACCOUNTS  2015 17
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Red Cross volunteer Jason 
hands out fresh clothes, hot 
drinks and hygiene packs at 
the rest centre.

He listens to families arriving 
from their flooded homes, 
looking for shelter and advice.

Later he will go door-to-door 
checking on people who are 
weathering the storm  
at home.

Dealing with an emergency is about 
more than reacting to a moment 
in time. It’s about preparing, 
responding and recovering. Our 
partnerships with the emergency 
services and local councils ensure 
we all know what to do when 
disaster strikes and we’re quickly 
on-scene to help. 

When storm Desmond hit in December, 
our volunteers helped around 650 
people; they manned rest centres in 
Kendall and Carlisle and went door-to-
door checking on vulnerable people. 
We helped communities cope with  
fires and power cuts, too. Last year 
our teams supported 15,914 people 
nationwide, offering comfort,  
a warm place to rest and  
advice on next steps.  
We work closely with  
local fire brigades  
to ensure they can  
focus on the flames  
while we  
support the  
families affected.

Last year our teams supported

15,914 
people nationwide, 
offering comfort, a warm place  
to rest and advice on next steps
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At the rest centre, some people 
had come to terms with the 
flooding, but there were some 
who were angry, some were 
upset. As soon as people saw 
the Red Cross emblem on our 
workwear they opened up and 
started chatting to us.
Jason Tattersall, 21 
Red Cross volunteer from Carlisle.



Flood alerts by smartphone

To help more people prepare for and 
respond to emergencies we launched a 
new app offering people real-time weather 
alerts and tips on what to do in the event 
of a flood, storm or power cut. It also offers 
location-based updates on your family and 
friends. It has already been downloaded 
28,300 times in the UK.

Food poverty and financial crisis

For the third year running we supported 
Fareshare with their annual food bank 
collections. Generous Tesco shoppers 
helped us collect enough food for 3.7 
million meals. We’ve also been working 
in partnership with the charity Turn2Us, 
making financial information and guidance 
available to vulnerable people who may be 
carers, recently bereaved, on low incomes 
or seriously ill. 

Supporting trafficked people

Our volunteers are called out to work 
alongside the police and local authorities to 
support victims of trafficking or exploitation 
in the UK. In 2015 we gave emotional 
and practical support to 371 people, with 
Albanian nationals making up the greatest 
percentage. We’re training our staff to better 
recognise and support trafficked or exploited 
people with the help of our European Red 
Cross colleagues and other partners.

Event first aid

When a plane hit the ground and exploded 
into flames at the Shoreham Air Show in 
August, Red Cross volunteers were on  
the scene, treating casualties within just  
two minutes. 

Volunteer Paul Cloves said: “We had drilled 
that day to prepare for how we would 
respond should a plane come down, so we 
were ready and knew what to do.”

Red Cross volunteers treated the 
wounded at the scene and within  
ten minutes they had two  
treatment stations up and running.

>  99% of service users  
who gave us feedback  
said they would  
recommend our  
first aid service.

20

Our dedicated event  
first aid volunteers

treated  

28,288 
casualties at  

5,152
events this year, from 
football to festivals.

SECTION 3 UK emergency response
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The care the volunteers 
provided was absolutely 
phenomenal – some sat 
with people for 2-3 hours, 
comforting them. Sometimes 
it’s just about being there.
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Paul Cloves, 
Red Cross volunteer.
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Supporting people between 
hospital and home

Tariq sits alone by the fireplace.

 

He has managed to dress and get 
downstairs, but he has no food in the 
fridge and he knows he can’t make it  
to the local shop.

The pain in his leg tells him it is another 
day he won’t be going anywhere.

He picks up last week’s newspaper  
to read again.
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Red Cross volunteer Sarah 
offers her arm for support. 
She’s taking an elderly 
neighbour out for the first  
time since they came home 
from hospital.

They walk to the chemist 
chatting about future visits to 
family and friends. Sarah can 
see their confidence grow with 
every step.

During the year we supported 
thousands of vulnerable patients  
to get home safely and quickly  
from hospital, often checking on 
their wellbeing once we’d helped 
them settle in. 

We operate around 100 home from 
hospital services. However, in February, 
a government grant of £500,000 allowed 
us to scale up our support to 17 over-
stretched hospitals for 12 weeks or longer. 
Throughout the year we helped 31,109 
people via our A&E support services.

Our fleet of 150 Red Cross ambulances 
nationwide helped 112,370 people 
make other essential journeys such 
as getting to hospital appointments or 
physiotherapy. We faced a steep learning 
curve in fully understanding what to 
charge for this service as we learned 
through experience what our costs are 
and how they are affected by issues 
with the vehicles. However, recent work 
to capture learning has now put us in a 
good position to charge commissioners 
appropriately.

Setting goals

When we support people in their own 
homes, we make sure we are tailoring  
our support to their needs by working  
with them to develop their personal  
goals for the time we spend with them, 
setting them on their way to better health 
and independence.

 

11AM
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The Red Cross lady, Christine, 
was lovely. It was a great 
service and really helped us 
out at a bit of a traumatic time.

Derek Parsons, 83 
Assisted discharge service user.
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Last year 87% of people helped by our 
independent living services achieved or  
made significant progress towards at least  
one of their goals and 96% of those who  
gave us feedback said they would recommend 
our services.

Happy at home

After losing both her husband and much of 
her eyesight, Hilda was at her very lowest 
ebb – but with a little patience and a lot of 
care, volunteer Rita helped the 92-year-old 
rediscover her zest for life.

“When my husband died, my whole world 
shattered,” said Hilda. “I used to go to bed at 
night hoping I wouldn’t wake up.”

Her deteriorating eyesight compounded her 
loneliness, making it hard for her to get out 
and about. But then Hilda was introduced to 
the Red Cross and Rita, a support at home 
volunteer in Essex.

Hilda recalled: “Rita was so sympathetic and 
seemed to understand me. I soon felt as 
though I’d known her for years.”

When Hilda mentioned that she loved to knit 
and crochet, Rita gently encouraged her to 
visit a local craft club for visually impaired 
people and even went with her for her first visit.

Now Hilda’s joy for life has returned. She said: 
“After two very difficult years, I’m starting to 

feel better and appreciate how lucky I am, 
and Rita has had a lot to do with that… 
encouraging me to go out, and spending 
so much time with me. She has brought 
tremendous comfort.”

>  84,586 people were helped by  
our support at home teams

>  96% of service users who gave us 
feedback would recommend our services

Fighting for your right to a wheelchair

Our vital wheelchair loans service helped 
103,810 people last year, enabling their 
recovery, giving them independence and 
preventing social isolation. 

The NHS provides long-term wheelchair 
loans but if you need one for a few weeks or 
a couple of months – anything less than six 
months – you could be on your own unless 
you contact the Red Cross. We’re the biggest 
national provider of wheelchair loans.

John and Julia’s daughter, Joanne, used a Red 
Cross wheelchair to help her get out and about 
after bone cancer caused a broken leg.

“It made everything so much easier” said John 
and Julia. “The wheelchair was the central 
thing to have. We wondered how we’d have 
managed without it. It opened up her life again 
for a short while. Without it she wouldn’t have 
survived as long.” 

SECTION 4 Supporting people between hospital and home
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We believe everyone who needs a 
wheelchair should be able to get one  
that is right for them quickly and easily. 
That’s why we’re working with health 
services and politicians to improve people’s 
access to short-term wheelchair loans. We 
want this service to become NHS policy 
and for anyone who may benefit from a 
wheelchair to know they can get one from 
the Red Cross. Our 2015 research report 
Putting the Wheels in Motion helped to 
kick-start our campaign.

The British Red Cross is 
absolutely right to highlight 
this issue. Anyone who needs 
a wheelchair… for short or 
long-term use should expect 
to get one quickly.
Department of Health, 
June 2015.
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First aid education

Noah lies in the road.

He is in shock and grips his 
twisted left arm. 

The driver who knocked him 
off his bike has stopped  
to call 999.

He sees the sky fade to black 
as he faints.
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Abosede saw the boy knocked 
from his bike. She remembers 
what to do from her Red Cross 
first aid classes at school.

She cushions his arm with 
her coat while he holds it still, 
talking to him to keep him 
alert and conscious until the 
ambulance arrives.

How to handle a break or restart a 
heart and are just some of the things 
you learn on a Red Cross first aid 
course. First aid is a vital life-skill 
which makes all our communities safer 
and more resilient. We trained 158,808 
people in life-saving first aid skills 
last year, including 18,633 people with 
baby and child first aid skills.

We want to ensure people are equipped 
with the skills to save a life from the time 
they are at school. More than 14,205 
members of the public took action to back 
our campaign with St John Ambulance and 
the British Heart Foundation to get first aid 
on the school curriculum. 

Unfortunately, a single MP used the 
‘filibustering’ method to block the First Aid 
in School Bill – preventing both a discussion 
and a vote. This was very frustrating and 
the challenge remains to get first aid taught 
in schools. We will continue to campaign on 
this important issue because, on the very 
same day the Bill was ‘talked out’, 16-year-
old Rowan Truelove showed just why we 
need these skills taught in all schools.

When 11-year-old Lewis was hit by a car  
on his way home from school, breaking his 
leg, Rowan immediately stepped in to help 
with the first aid skills he had learnt as an  
air cadet. 

He said: “The first thing to do was deal 
with the situation to make it safe. I told one 
person to call 999 and told some others to 
direct the traffic.” 

Rowan talked to Lewis to distract him, 
and gave him lots of reassurance. “I asked 
people to give me their coats. I used one 
to support his injured leg and keep it still, 

SECTION 5 First aid education
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another to put under his head and others  
to cover him and keep him warm.” 

Reducing the risk of harm

We’re working in local communities 
around the UK to reduce the risk of harm 
to people by teaching first aid skills where 
they are most needed. For example, 
we’ve partnered with Stonewall to 
support homeless transgender people in 
London – the project has given us some 
valuable insight into how we can help 
people in this situation across other areas 
of the UK. 

We’re also working with more prison 
communities following successful projects 
launched in Ireland and Wales, making 
sure first aid skills are at hand to support 
prisoners the moment they are needed.

Rapped up

Our baby and child first aid app continues 
to be a big hit with parents. Our ‘Rapped 
Up’ promotional campaign videos, in which 
rapping toddlers dispensed essential first 
aid tips, were viewed more than 259,000 
times on You Tube.  
Downloads of the 
app soared to a  
total of 366,245.

A new generation of humanitarians

School children all over the country have 
been learning about crisis, vulnerability 
and stigma thanks to our topical and 
extensive online teaching resources. More 
than 664,000 people viewed teaching 
packages, quick activities, lesson plans 
and assembly kits – downloading in 
excess of 63,000 resources.

Essential first aid tips  
were viewed more than 

259,000 
times on You Tube.
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Supporting international 
emergency response and recovery

Swaa walks over the rubble of the housing 
block she used to call home.

Her sister has been missing since the earthquake 
and she knows time is running out.

She has found no trace of her belongings but, 
for now, she must try to find somewhere safe to 
spend the night with her daughter. 
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Michelle holds the hand of 
the woman in front of her. As 
a Red Cross nurse this is her 
second trip to Sierra Leone to 
help people with Ebola.

Many people enter the 
treatment centre too late to 
overcome the virus, but  
with good care this woman 
will survive.

The British Red Cross is part of a 
global humanitarian network – the 
International Red Cross and Red 
Crescent Movement. Around the 
world 190 countries have their own 
Red Cross or Red Crescent National 
Society. We often work together to 
share knowledge and resources. 

Red Cross volunteers and staff live 
and work in villages, towns and cities 
all over the world. So, when disaster 
strikes, the Red Cross is already there. 
That’s what makes our approach to 
international emergency preparedness, 
response and recovery so unique. 

Local people make the decisions 
about what they need to help their 
communities. The people who 
help them in emergencies are their 
neighbours, townspeople and 
countrymen. We also send specialist 
technical staff to offer expertise with 
building shelters, ensuring hygiene, 
or running cash-based grants, for 
example, when they are needed. But 
the core of any Red Cross emergency 
response is a country’s own Red Cross 
society and the volunteers working for 
their communities.

Preparing for earthquakes in Nepal

Our support for the Nepal Red Cross 
helped communities in Kathmandu 
and beyond when a devastating 7.8 
magnitude earthquake struck the region 
in April. During the two days after the 
earthquake, Nepal Red Cross first 
aid volunteers and search and rescue 
teams treated 800 people. 
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Samba’s blood test for 
Ebola was negative.  
He was a survivor.
Barbara Nichols, 
Red Cross nurse.
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The British Red Cross sent 36 experts in 
shelter, health, logistics and livelihoods, as 
well as a team equipped with health and 
hygiene gear to provide showers, toilets, 
shelter and more for 20,000 people.

The British Red Cross emergency appeal 
raised £9.1m to fund response and 
recovery work with a further £1.4m coming 
from the Disasters Emergency Committee 
appeal and £3m from the Department for 
International Development (DFID). 

Fighting Ebola in Sierra Leone

The lives of more than 11,300 people have 
been lost to Ebola in Sierra Leone, Liberia 
and Guinea since the outbreak began in 
2014. In November 2015, Sierra Leone 
was declared free from the virus. Guinea 
and Liberia were heading towards being 
declared Ebola free in the New Year.

Thanks to the generosity of Red Cross 
supporters our emergency appeal raised 
£9.2m to fund medical centres and staff, 
community education programmes to 
prevent the spread of infection and 
thousands of safe burials for those who died. 

Our specially trained volunteers are  
part of the Foreign and Commonwealth 
Office’s rapid response team sent to help 
British citizens caught up in traumatic 
incidents abroad.

When a gunman opened fire at a holiday 
resort in Tunisia in June, 38 people were 
killed. Four volunteers were on a plane 
within hours to support British people who 
had been bereaved, injured or witnessed 
the tragic shootings. Back in the UK, 
Red Cross volunteers staffed a support 
telephone line and met returning Britons at 
the airport.

A pair of psycho-social support 
volunteers also went to support British 
citizens in Paris following the terror  
attacks in November. The team spent time 
working in-depth with people affected by 
the incident.

Leaving a positive legacy in Haiti

Five years after Port-au-Prince was levelled 
by an earthquake which killed 220,000 
people and left 1.5 million homeless,  
our biggest ever emergency response  
and recovery programme came to an end.

Donations to our appeal back in 2010 
brought relief for many thousands of 
Haitians and transformed the Delmas 19 
area of Port-au-Prince. Delmas 19 was 
a typical slum dwelling – a labyrinth of 
passages and paths through  
tightly-packed and poorly built houses. 
The existing ‘canal’ was an open  
sewer which poured through 
the community when it rained. 

        in Haiti 
we built 152  
NEW HOUSES 

Supporting international response and recoverySECTION 6

Emotional support in Paris and Tunisia

Every day. Every way.



We asked the community what they 
needed and we have worked with them to 
transform Delmas 19.

>  It used to flood every time it rained,  
so we built a 320m canal system  
and 1km of new drainage. It doesn’t 
flood anymore.

>  People wanted to get back to work  
and earn a living. We gave grants  
to 3,500 individuals and 26 businesses. 
We also built a new marketplace 
for traders.

>  We built 152 new houses and repaired 
139 other properties while training local 
men and women with masonry skills – 
making them part  of the rebuilding of 
their community and equipping them 
with skills to earn a living.

>  We added solar powered lights for more 
safety and created more space where 
children can play.

None of this would have been possible 
without the generous donations of our 
supporters and a dedicated team of 49 
Haitian and six international aid workers in 
Port-au-Prince.
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Support in silent and 
complex emergencies

Nagwa has seen things she 
will not speak of.

Violent rape and killing, 
whole villages burnt down.

She is hungry and sick  
from drinking unclean water 
in the swamplands where she 
hides with her family. 

They hear gunfire at night.
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There are thousands of 
refugees housed in the camp 
where Zaid from the Red 
Cross works.

The line of people waiting for 
bread is long, the line for the 
medical tent is much longer. 

Zaid ducks into the makeshift 
play room for children in the 
camp; time to help them free 
their minds from their hardship 
for a little while.

The Red Cross and Red Crescent 
Movement is the largest supplier 
of aid in Syria. By following 
our principles of neutrality and 
impartiality, the volunteers can  
cross front lines and reach people 
cut off by fighting. But we cannot 
reach everyone – and aid is only  
a short-term fix.

Complex emergencies

Conflict and refugees in Syria  
and the border countries

The Syrian conflict has now lasted 
longer than the First World War. We are 
grateful to all our donors who continue 
to contribute to the vital work of the Red 
Cross. Our Syria appeal raised a further 
£2.1m in 2015 – a total of £12.4m since 
the appeal was launched.

Money raised by the appeal has 
supported the life-saving work of our 
partners the Syrian Arab Red Crescent 
(SARC) who help those still living in the 
country and support refugees who have 
fled to neighbouring Jordan, Lebanon 
and Iraq. 

>  Within Syria SARC delivers food, 
water, medicine, blankets, mattresses 
and toiletries. They run food kitchens, 
drive ambulances and collect dead 
bodies. An estimated 13.5 million 
people in Syria remain in need of help.

>  In neighbouring countries we support 
the Jordanian Red Crescent and 
Lebanese Red Cross to provide for 
the estimated 1.7 million refugees 
who have crossed their borders in 
search of safety.
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In Syria there is no life. 
Anyone who leaves his 
home and go for his 
food doesn’t know if he 
will come home or not.
Ayman, 
Syrian refugee.
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People in both Syria and its border countries 
remain in dire need of support. Families in the 
border countries are resorting to desperate 
measures – sending children to work; going 
without medication; skipping meals. Many 
people are living in a state of extreme poverty. 
We continue to appeal for funds to support 
the millions of people in need and to call for 
aid workers’ neutrality to be respected – they 
must be allowed safe passage to help people 
in need.

Mohamad, 70, is trapped in Aleppo with his 
daughter. Their building lacks windows, water 
and electricity. He said: “This is not a life. I 
expect to die from the cold.” 

Before the conflict Mohamad owned a 
factory. But the factory was bombed and 
they lost everything.

The Syrian Arab Red Crescent, supported 
by the British Red Cross, works tirelessly 
to provide water, food, medical care and 
support to people trapped in besieged  
areas of Syria.

Desperate need in Yemen

Conflict erupted in Yemen in March and 
months of fierce fighting have killed thousands 
of people and left millions in need of aid. With 
90% of the country’s goods being imported, 
restrictions on their movement across borders 
and within the country is adding to the difficult 
living conditions. 

Donations to our Yemen appeal have  
helped to bring people vital food, water  
and medical supplies in the worst affected 
areas via the International Committee of the 
Red Cross (ICRC). 

Civil war ravages South Sudan

Thousands of people have been killed and 
millions displaced in this violent conflict. 
People are still in desperate need of food, 
water, healthcare and safety. Money from our 
South Sudan Crisis Appeal is supporting the 
ICRC and South Sudan Red Cross to air-
drop aid to malnourished communities and 
mobile surgeries are bringing vital medical 
support to hundreds of people wounded in 
the conflict.

Disaster Fund

We gave more than £2.4m from our disaster 
fund, much of which helped in less reported 
crises around the world in 2015. This includes 
support to communities experiencing conflict, 
floods, earthquakes, migration, typhoons and 
food shortages. For example:

>  £250,000 to improve safety for women, 
children and the elderly in Nigeria 

>  £180,000 to support flood-stricken 
communities in Malawi 

>  £253,000 to help people access food  
in Senegal. 
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Healthy families in Kenya  
and Bangladesh

Unsafe water and poor hygiene and toilet 
facilities contribute to poverty and illness. 
Many families have no choice but to give 
their children water which is unsafe to drink. 
Our Clean Start programme is bringing 
clean water to communities and new water 
tanks and toilets to schools. 

The Clean Start Appeal raised more than 
£7.1m in three months – the most we have 
ever raised for a non-emergency appeal. 
Our partnership with The SpongeBob Movie 
allowed us to make the case for change 
to thousands of families across the UK. 
Thanks to fantastic public support we were 
able to access £5m from the government’s 
Department for International Development 
(DFID) to fund the programme. 
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A stronger  
Red Cross Movement

The British Red Cross is part of a global 
humanitarian network – the International Red Cross 
and Red Crescent Movement. Around the world 
190 countries have their own national Red Cross 
or Red Crescent Society. We often work together 
to share knowledge and resources. We have 
partnerships flourishing in many countries including:

>  Guinea  – supporting an epidemic 
preparedness programme with the Swiss and 
Danish Red Cross societies

>  Senegal – supporting a food security pilot with 
the American Red Cross

>  Nigeria – we have seconded two specialists to 
deliver emergency cash programmes helping 
50,000 families affected by violence

>  Sierra Leone – British Red Cross staff continue 
to work in the country supporting community 
health programmes and disaster risk reduction 

>  Syria – supporting a more unified  
approach in the region with the ICRC and 
International Federation of Red Cross and 
Red Crescent Societies (IFRC), improving 
collaboration between the Movement and 
reducing duplication. 

P
ho

to
 ©

 

G U L F  O F
G U I N E A

A R C T I C  
O C E A N

P A C I F I C
O C E A N

S O U T H
A T L A N T I C

O C E A N

I N D I A N
O C E A N

P A C I F I C
O C E A N

Senegal

Guinea

Sierra Leone

Liberia

South 
Sudan

Ivory
Coast

Nigeria

East Timor

Democratic 
People’s Republic 

of North Korea

Myanmar

Djibouti

So
m

ali
a

Central African 
Republic

Kenya

Zimbabwe

Uganda

LesothoSouth
Africa

Lebanon

Occupied 
Palestinian 
Territories

Iraq

Syria
Afghanistan

Pakistan Nepal

Bangladesh

Mongolia

China

SECTION 8

This map shows where we had 

ongoing partnerships with Red Cross 

and Red Crescent Societies in 2015. 

We have also provided staff and 

funding to Red Cross Societies and 

projects in several other countries.
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Protection for aid workers

We also continued to support the 
Movement’s call for respect for the Red 
Cross and Red Crescent emblems and the 
protection of aid workers. Last year, ten 
Red Cross workers in Syria and seven in 
Yemen were killed carrying out their work: 
evacuating injured civilians, preparing 
shelters, and collecting dead bodies.

International aid from DFID

Within the Movement, the British Red 
Cross has responsibility for co-ordinating 
the relationship with the UK government’s 
Department for International Development 
(DFID) on behalf of the International 
Federation and its National Societies on 
policy, operational and financial issues.

In 2015, DFID gave a grant of £1.6m to the 
British Red Cross as part of a Programme 
Partnership Arrangement (PPA), £9m to 
the International Federation of Red Cross 
and Red Crescent Societies as part of 
an Institutional Strategy, a number of 
long term grants to National Societies 
and around £15m in contributions to 
emergency appeals.

ICRC partnership

Highlights of our key areas of support to 
the International Committee of the Red 
Cross (ICRC) in 2015 included helping 
with the roll out of a tool to help National 
Societies improve their community access 
and acceptance as well as their security.

In Africa we’ve been supporting National 
Societies in the Democratic Republic of 
Congo, Guinea, Somalia, South Sudan and 
Central African Republic with long term 
needs. An organisational development 
project with the ICRC and Nigerian Red 
Cross aims to ensure sustainable and 
relevant support to local communities.

International humanitarian law

We continue to educate people about 
international humanitarian law (IHL)  
and protecting the Red Cross, Red 
Crescent and Red Crystal emblems  
which act as protection for military 
medical staff and aid workers in armed 
conflict. We ran an event exploring 
contemporary issues in IHL and the role of 
Commonwealth countries in helping  
to strengthen this law in partnership with 
the Commonwealth Secretariat.

SECTION 8 A stronger Red Cross Movement

Every day. Every way.
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We have supported the Red Cross and 
Red Crescent Movement to establish 
standards on detention in non-international 
armed conflicts, as well as measures to 
address sexual and gender-based violence 
in armed conflict and disasters.

The Customary International Humanitarian 
Law Database, which is maintained jointly 
by the British Red Cross and the ICRC, 
was the first recipient of the American 
Society of International Law Jus Gentium 
Research Award. The award recognises 
our contribution to providing access to 
legal resources about international law, as 
well as our efforts to make the resources 
freely available.
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Our plans for 2016

Both local and global, our plans for 2016 
will help us reach more people in crisis 
with the support they need. 

1.  We will support more people  
to live independently at home by:

 I.  tailoring our support to their personal 
goals and circumstances

 II.  helping people return home from 
hospital in a safe and timely way  
and following up with further support 
as needed

 III.  developing new and existing 
programmes to tackle loneliness and 
social isolation in partnership with  
The Co-operative Group

 IV.  providing short-term wheelchair loans 
and advocating for better UK-wide 
access to wheelchairs

 V.  advocating for universal access to low 
level preventative healthcare.

2.  We will deliver outstanding 
emergency response both for 
international crises and UK crises. 

 I.  In the UK we will develop our work 
with police, fire, local authority and 
health services to reach more people 
in crisis with the support they need.

 II.  Our specialist international teams 
will continue to develop and deliver 
first class emergency response with 
International Red Cross and Red 
Crescent Movement partners.

3.  We will advocate on the issue of 
first aid and help groups of people  
who are disproportionately at risk  
of harm by carefully targeting our  
first aid education. 

 I.  For example, we are developing new 
programmes with homeless people 
and prison communities. 

 II.   We will also continue to advocate for 
first aid to be learnt by pupils in all 
schools to improve the resilience and 
safety of all communities.

Every day. Every way.
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4.  We will help more refugees,  
asylum seekers and migrants by:

 I.  growing our UK refugee support 
services, providing more support and 
advocacy for refugees and asylum 
seekers in the UK, and continuing 
with our reception and orientation 
services for those arriving as part of 
the government’s Syrian Vulnerable 
Persons Resettlement programme

 II.  calling for changes to our asylum 
system to reduce destitution and 
improving access to safe and legal 
routes to the UK for refugees

 III.  supporting the other Red Cross and 
Red Crescent Societies to provide 
humanitarian assistance to people 
arriving in their countries. 

5.  We will strengthen the International 
Red Cross and Red Crescent 
Movement to support people in  
crisis overseas.

 I.  We will strengthen our own and the 
Movement’s response to silent and 
complex emergencies. We will support 
National Societies in Africa, the Middle 
East and North Africa  and South East 
Asia where there is greatest risk of 

crisis but least ability to respond, so 
that, together, we can act quickly  
and effectively.

 II.  We will work with the Kenya Red 
Cross and Bangladesh Red Crescent 
to provide safe and clean water to 
improve the health and sanitation at 
schools and in communities.

6. Reshaping our work

  We are in the process of changing how  
we work to ensure our systems, services  
and structures are as efficient and effective 
as possible.

 I.  We will harness technology to help 
people access our services easily and 
to improve the way they are delivered. 
We will also make it easier for people we 
help to give us feedback on our services, 
which we will review and act on in our 
drive for excellence throughout our work.

 II.  Simpler structures and processes will 
allow us to focus on the things we 
excel at. It will mean we can more easily 
respond to changing needs and focus 
our efforts on the front line and where 
we can make the most difference to 
vulnerable people.

SECTION 9
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Working to help people in crisis entails 
taking risks. The board of trustees 
is ultimately responsible for risk 
management within the British Red Cross 
and they are satisfied that appropriate 
internal control systems and risk 
management processes are in place. 

Risk management

The trustees consider that the following 
framework provides the British Red Cross 
with adequate measures to reduce the 
impact of identified risks.

>  The finance, risk and audit 
committee reviews the corporate 
risks and internal controls 
framework within which we 
operate. The committee approves 
the internal audit plan of the 
organisation and ensures appropriate 
coverage across the enabling 
functions and operational activities. 
This is prioritised using a risk-based 
approach and managed by the risk 
and assurance department. The 
committee receives summaries of all 
internal audit reports arising from the 
plan, regular progress reports and 
updates on the status of corporate 
risks and related controls.

>  The executive leadership team  
reviews the significant 
organisational risks and ensures  
that the internal controls 
framework within which we 
operate is effective. They consider 
new and emerging risks, review all 
internal audit reports and assess 
progress on implementing mitigating 
actions arising. 

Principal risks and uncertainties

Every day. Every way.
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>  A combination of committees 
of the board and management 
groups help identify, evaluate and 
manage risks associated with: 
strategic change management, ethical 
fundraising, investments, business 
continuity, security, health and safety, 
remuneration, information governance 
and clinical and practice governance.

>  In addition to policies and 
procedures for raising complaints 
and grievances, there is also a 
raising a concern (whistleblowing) 
policy in place. This ensures that if a 
member of staff or volunteer suspects 
wrongdoing, risk or malpractice within 
the organisation, they can report this 
within a supportive environment through 
their line manager, the head of risk and 
assurance or to an executive director or 
board member.

>  There is a fraud and anti-corruption 
policy in place which stipulates that 
the Red Cross has a zero tolerance 
approach to fraud and corruption of  
any type or in any circumstance. 
Suspicions or incidents of fraud or 
corruption can be reported internally or 
externally via the website. Response 
plans are in place to manage risks 
associated with such incidents. 
All significant incidents of fraud or 
corruption are investigated and reported 
to the executive leadership team and 
the finance, risk and audit committee. 

>  There are communication and 
reputation management plans in place 
to help ensure effective and timely 
responses to risks in an environment 
with increasing scrutiny and challenge of 
our organisational effectiveness. 

Our most significant risks and mitigating 
actions, covering as applicable our UK and 
International operations, are set out in the 
table on the following page. 
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Risk Mitigating actions 

Fundraising regulations: Failure on our part or on the 
part of fundraising agencies we work with to comply 
with the legal and regulatory framework and the speed 
with which we respond to any allegations of non-
compliance could lead to reputational damage and 
potential fines from regulators. 
The speed with which we respond to such incidents 
may also impact on our ability to generate sufficient 
funds to deliver future planned and emergency 
activities. This may impact on our ability to deliver our 
aims and objectives as outlined in our current strategy.

We have undertaken a full review of our internal fundraising practices, along 
with those who fundraise on our behalf. Although we are compliant with the 
legal and regulatory framework as it currently stands, we will continue to 
invest in our quality control framework to assure our fundraising practices. 
This ensures that we are well placed to implement any future changes that 
may be required in our practices. Board scrutiny of our fundraising controls 
has also been enhanced to ensure appropriate oversight in this area.
In addition, we continue to pro-actively engage with the sector, 
including the Institute of Fundraising, the Charity Commission, the 
government and our peers on any changes to the fundraising legal and 
regulatory framework.
Our plans for the coming years recognise the impact any legal and regulatory 
changes may have on our operational plans, activities and budgets. 

Service users, staff and volunteers’ health, safety 
and security: Any significant breaches in our health, 
safety and security practices may lead to an incident 
that compromises the personal safety, health or well 
being of our service users, staff or volunteers. In 
particular, a significant incident could impact on our 
ability to deliver services to our service users and could 
potentially damage our reputation.
In addition, staff and volunteers working in an 
environment of heightened  risk, such as in our 
international operations, face increased risk due to the 
changing and potentially unstable context within which 
they operate.  

Appropriate policies, procedures and a security framework (international) 
are in place to direct and guide health, safety and security practices whilst 
working in the UK and overseas. However, there will continue to be an 
inherent risk that a significant incident may occur especially given the nature 
of our activities and in particular the context within which we  
operate overseas.
In addition, a health, safety and security committee with board 
representation is in situ. The committee provides oversight and scrutiny for 
health and safety, security risks and related mitigation plans.
Specialist groups monitor health, security and safety practices across the 
organisation and undertake routine inspections.
Monitoring and incident reporting processes are also in place for  
regulated services.

Strategic change: Without appropriate change 
management oversight, scrutiny and support 
structures, strategic change programmes introduced to 
transform how we work and deliver our services may 
result in unsuccessful implementation of our strategy. 
This could also have an adverse effect on our people, 
productivity and the capacity to respond to the 
changing needs of our service users, impacting on 
our delivery of safe and quality assured services.

Strategic change management structures have been established with clear 
governance and reporting lines on the delivery of all key strategic change 
programmes. 
A framework has also been developed to identify critical change 
management projects. The service delivery models are also being reviewed  
to ensure we continue to deliver safe and quality assured services, both 
during the transition and into the future.

Risk management framework

Every day. Every way.
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Risk Mitigating actions 

Digital technology: Without implementation of our 
digital strategy and good project management, new 
developments in digital technology may be missed or 
existing projects may not be implemented effectively. 
This may lead to service interruptions, inefficient 
operations and risks of missed opportunities in new 
digital technology. 
This could also lead to reduced engagement with our 
supporters and people in crisis, inefficiencies in  
service delivery and unnecessary increased time and 
resource requirements. 

Following the appointment of the chief information officer, our digital 
strategy has been reviewed to ensure it supports our plans to efficiently  
use new and existing technology to meet the needs of our people and 
service users. 
In addition, digital technology projects and planned upgrades will continue 
to be prioritised and monitored to ensure effective implementation and 
realisation of identified benefits. 

Sector wide risk: Failure to engage with reports or 
comments from the media, opinion formers or the 
public may erode trust in charities and our brand, affect 
our position in the sector and may have an impact on 
the public’s propensity to support us. 

We continue to be transparent and trustworthy in providing quality assured 
services and programmes whilst offering value for money.
There is a pro-active and coordinated approach to reputation management 
with raised internal awareness in place. We routinely monitor potential  
areas of vulnerability with risks and issues being managed and mitigated 
where possible.
In addition, we continue to engage with the wider sector and key 
stakeholders and take the lead on issues that may affect our reputation and 
impact on the public’s propensity to support us.

Cyber security risk: With the increasing use of 
information and digital technology to undertake 
everyday business, including the use of portable 
devices, the increasing need to access information 
outside our offices and an increase in digital donations, 
the threat of external parties trying to gain access to 
our systems and data increases.

Enhanced preventative controls have been established to mitigate such 
risks, such as the introduction of two factor authentication. Ongoing 
preventative controls include regular penetration testing and IT security 
assessments of all current and any proposed systems we use.



Income

Our work is mainly funded by a mixture 
of donations, income from our shops, 
legacies, earned income from service 
delivery and grants.

We are pleased to report growth across 
almost all of these key income streams, 
raising our overall income to £275.1m, an 
increase of £13.3m on the previous year. 

In an increasingly challenging economic 
context, donations grew £5.5m to 
£120.2m, for which we are very grateful 
to our many supporters. This includes 
continuing support from our regular givers, 
whose total donations increased by £1.5m 
to £52.6m.

Retail income from our shops grew £0.9m 
to £29.9m, partly due to new shops 
opening during the year.

Our income from legacies was 
exceptionally strong in the year, with 
income  increasing by 47% (£10.4m)  
to £32.6m.

We received £32.5m in grant income, 
primarily for our international programmes.

This included £26.9m from the Department 
for International Development (DFID).

Our work in the UK is funded through 
a mixture of donations and income 
generated from service delivery. To be 
able to provide services to support people 
in crisis, we have local contracts with 
statutory services, such as the NHS.

Financial review

20%
Contracts and fees

£275.1m
Income

2%
Other income

43%
Donations

11%
Retail

12%
Grants

12%
Legacies
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As we increased our support to 
communities throughout the UK with new 
or extended services, our total contract 
and fee income grew £5.5m in the year to 
£54.5m. This is largely made up of income 
from our first aid training (£16.5m) and 
independent living (health and social care 
activities) (£28.6m).

 

Expenditure

Our total expenditure increased £3.1m in 
the year to £259.7m. 

Expenditure on our charitable activities 
increased by 6.3% or £11.6m in the year 
to £195.0m and you can read about our 
major achievements with this money 
elsewhere in the report.

24%
Fundraising and Retail 

excluding support costs

£259.7m
   Expenditure

7%
Support costs

69%
Charitable activities 

excluding support costs
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(93p in every pound goes on direct charitable activities and raising funds)

13%
Emergency response 

£195.0m
Charitable 
activities

13%
First aid

29%
Independent living

6%
Refugees and 

migration

39%
International



The return on fundraising expenditure is 
under frequent review to ensure effective 
returns are achieved.

There was a significant drop of £10.5m in our 
fundraising costs during 2015, reducing our 
total spend on fundraising to £39.7m. In 
common with a number of other charities, we 
suspended elements of our fundraising 
marketing activity in the latter part of the year, 
pending the outcome of fundraising 
regulation reviews in the sector. Changes to 
the way we fundraise and the discontinuation 
of certain fundraising activities will impact 
upon our fundraising income in the next few 
years, but we are confident that by 
transforming our relationships with  
supporters we can minimise the impact  
on our funding model.

Our underlying retail costs (excluding 
dilapidations) increased 3.7% or £0.9m in the 
year to £25.0m. High street trading

conditions remained challenging throughout 
the year and our retail efforts were focussed 
on growth opportunities (including opening 
new shops) and maximising cost efficiencies.

Reserves

Our reserves policy is set to ensure our 
work is protected from the risk of disruption 
at short notice due to a lack of funds, 
whilst at the same time ensuring we do 
not retain income for longer than required. 
The reserves policy is kept under periodic 
review and reserves levels will be adjusted as 
perceptions of risk and other factors change.

During the year, the board of trustees 
reviewed the reserves policy and agreed the 
minimum reserves level should be £30m, with 
a target range of £30m to £40m. Key areas 
considered by the trustees in determining 
reserves levels include the financial impact of 
risk, levels of non-cash working capital and 
commitments and longer term plans. 

56 Every day. Every way.
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Our free available reserves at the year-
end were £40.1m (2014: £31.6m). This 
represents slightly less than three months’ 
worth of charitable expenditure out of 
general funds.

Investments

If funds are not immediately required, we 
invest them in low risk funds and deposits.

Our overall investment objective is to 
generate a return, whilst maintaining  
the capital value of the investments in  
real terms.

The British Red Cross does not directly 
or indirectly invest in companies with 
a significant interest in trading in and 
manufacture of arms or in the manufacture 
of tobacco products.

An investment sub-committee of the 
finance, risk and audit committee regularly 
reviews our investment portfolio and 
investment policy. During the year we 
appointed Kames Capital plc to manage 
our fixed asset investments.

Performance objectives for the two Kames 
funds in which we are invested are, over 
rolling 12 month and 36 month periods,  
for fund performance to be in the second 
and top quartilies respectively for their 
market sectors.

The income from investments for the year 
was £0.3m (2014: £0.3m). The investment 
sub-committee is satisfied with the overall 
performance of the investment portfolio 
against agreed benchmarks which applied 
during the year.

Going concern

The board of trustees has reviewed the 
British Red Cross’ financial position and 
consequently believes there are sufficient 
resources to manage any operational 
or financial risks. The board therefore 
considers there is a reasonable expectation 
that the British Red Cross has adequate 
resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future.

For this reason the board continues 
to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting in preparing the accounts.
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Governance 

Introduction

The British Red Cross was founded in 1870 
and incorporated by Royal Charter in 1908. 
A supplemental Royal Charter took effect 
on 1 January 1998, which was revised by 
HM The Queen in Council on 17 July 2003. 

The governing instruments under which we 
operate comprise this revised charter, the 
Standing Orders and other policies agreed 
from time to time by our governing body, 
the board of trustees.

Our legal objects, as laid out in the Royal 
Charter, are to provide assistance to 
victims of armed conflict and to work for 
the improvement of health, the prevention 
of disease and the prevention and 
alleviation of human suffering in the UK and 
throughout the world.

Board of trustees

The board of trustees has ultimate legal 
responsibility for our organisation and works 
to ensure good governance, with the help 
of its sub-committees. The board agrees 
the overall strategic direction and is our 
highest decision-making body. Its members 
are volunteers. They work  alongside 
the executive leadership team, who are 
responsible for the implementation of policy 
and for the management of the day-to-day 
running of the organisation.

The board is made up of nine elected 
members (chosen from our active volunteer 
base) and up to eight co-opted members 
appointed by the board (which includes 
the roles of chair and treasurer). The board 
of trustees is committed to ensuring that 
governance arrangements are effective and 
relevant, as well as ensuring that the board 
members reflect the breadth of the services 
we provide and the communities in which 
we operate.

Every day. Every way.
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A nominations group oversees trustee 
recruitment for elected and co-opted 
trustees. All new trustees are provided with 
a structured induction programme. Trustees 
also undertake a range of training initiatives 
during the year to ensure their skills are 
relevant and up to date.

Trustees’ terms of office previously lasted 
for three years, and they could serve two 
consecutive three-year terms, after which 
they had to stand down from the board 
for at least one year. A governance review 
was undertaken during the year, including 
a review of trustee terms of office and the 
size of the board. From 2016, trustee terms 
of office will be two terms of four years and 
the board will consist of up to seven elected 
and up to six co-opted trustees.

Structure

The British Red Cross has five subsidiaries, 
all of which are consolidated into our group 
accounts. Britcross Limited is a wholly 
owned trading subsidiary, which donates 
its trading profits to the British Red Cross. 
Other subsidiaries are the Bermuda Red 
Cross Charitable Trust, Bermuda Red 
Cross, Cayman Islands Red Cross and the 
Turks and Caicos Islands Red Cross. The 
British Red Cross also has five branches in 
British Overseas Territories.

The British Red Cross is a prominent 
member of the International Red Cross and 
Red Crescent Movement, with volunteers 
and staff contributing to a number of 
initiatives within both the International 
Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent 
Societies, the International Committee of 
the Red Cross (ICRC) and 190 member 
Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies.

The British Red Cross is also a member  
of the Disasters Emergency Committee,  
an umbrella organisation for 13 
humanitarian agencies that unites aid 
efforts in time of disaster in poorer countries 
around the world.



Trustees’ responsibilities

The trustees are responsible for preparing 
the trustees’ annual report and the financial 
statements in accordance with applicable 
law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice) including 
FRS 102: The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland.

The law applicable to charities in England, 
Wales and Scotland requires the trustees 
to prepare financial statements for each 
financial year which give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the charity and of 
the incoming resources and application of 
resources of the charity for that period. In 
preparing these financial statements, the 
trustees are required to:

>  select suitable accounting policies and 
then apply them consistently

>  observe the methods and principles in 
the Charities SORP1

>  make judgments and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent;

>  state whether applicable accounting 
standards have been followed; and

>  prepare the financial statements on 
the going concern basis unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the charity 
will continue in business.

The trustees are responsible for keeping 
proper accounting records that disclose 
with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the charity and enable 
them to ensure that the financial statements 
comply with the Charities Act 2011, the 
Charity (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 
2008, the Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005, the Charities Accounts 
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) 
and the provisions of the Royal Charter. 
They are also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the charity and hence for 
taking reasonable steps to prevent and 
detect fraud and other irregularities.

Financial statements are published on the 
organisation’s website (redcross.org.uk) 
in accordance with legislation in the UK 
governing the preparation and dissemination 
of financial statements, which may vary 
from legislation in other jurisdictions. The 
trustees’ responsibilities also extend to the 
ongoing integrity of the financial statements.

1. SORP = Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting and Reporting by Charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102).
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Remuneration policy

The British Red Cross has an annual 
income of over £275m and employs over 
4,100 people working in the UK and 
overseas. The aim of our remuneration 
policy, which applies to all employees, 
is to offer remuneration that is fair and 
appropriate for the roles they perform and 
the responsibilities they undertake to deliver 
our charitable aim of refusing to ignore 
people in crisis.

We employ people whose skills and 
competences are in demand in a variety 
of sectors including the health service, 
local government and other charities. They 
require the same levels of professional 
and occupational qualifications and 
experience as staff working in these 
sectors. In setting remuneration levels 
we have regard to pay in organisations 
which employ individuals with similar skills, 
competences and qualifications. The British 
Red Cross generally expects to pay at a 
level comparable to that in the public sector 
and the charity sector. At senior levels this 
results in remuneration levels that are well 
below that for similar sized organisations 
in the private sector and some areas of the 
public sector.

To underpin our values and our commitment 
to internal fairness in remuneration, all 
employees’ roles are reviewed and fitted 
into a grade structure consisting of seven 
bands. Salary progression within bands 
is linked to performance. A new grading 
and reward system will be introduced with 
effect from April 2016 with the objective 
of ensuring that our salaries are fair, 
competitive and sustainable and support 
our broader organisational strategy.

The British Red Cross operates a defined 
contribution pension scheme, to which 
all eligible employees are auto-enrolled.  
Anyone who does not qualify automatically 
in this way may opt to join. The minimum 
contribution level is one per cent of salary 
for an employee which is matched by the 
organisation. Staff may opt to make higher 
contributions which we will match to a 
maximum of 6%.

The British Red Cross Pension Fund is a 
defined benefit pension scheme which is 
closed to new members. 

Information on the grading structure, 
maximum and minimum remuneration levels 
for each grade, and all benefits (including 
pension) are available to all employees.
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The levels of salary available in the 
structure, together with other benefits 
such as annual leave and pensions, are 
generally reviewed annually. Inputs to the 
review include the financial performance 
of the British Red Cross, information on 
staff turnover and the pay and benefits 
in organisations employing comparable 
workers, organisation budgets and 
annual plans. In 2015 individual salaries 
were increased by an average of one and 
a half per cent distributed on the basis of 
assessed performance.

The board of trustees has a remuneration 
committee with the following 
responsibilities:

>  To recommend to the board for 
adoption the broad salary policy, pay 
structure and changes to terms and 
conditions for the organisation.  

>  To receive and agree 
recommendations from the chief 
executive, for salary and other benefit 
changes, for all members of the 
executive leadership team, where 
market forces and other matters 
dictate the need.

 The chair of the board of trustees 
determines salary and other benefit 
changes for the chief executive, where 
market forces and other matters dictate 
the need, in consultation with the 
remuneration committee.

During the financial year, membership of 
the remuneration committee was:

>  Paul Taylor (vice chair, board  
of trustees) chair of remuneration 
committee

>  John Dauth (vice-chair, board  
of trustees)

>  David Howell (treasurer)

>  Steve John (trustee)

>  Lise Llewellyn (trustee) 
(until 19 November 2015).

>  Hilary Douglas (vice-chair, board  
of trustees) (from 19 November 2015).

>  Vicky Wright (external adviser)

The chief executive officer attends all 
meetings but withdraws when his own 
remuneration is discussed.

Every day. Every way.
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The following details relate to the executive leadership team as at 31 December 2015:

The executive leadership team was established during the year. The executive director roles built on and expanded the remits of the previous senior management 
team roles. 

Chief executive* - the chief executive previously received a car allowance of £250 per month. This allowance has now ceased and has been consolidated into his 
basic salary. 

GPP** - Group Personal Pension Plan. The British Red Cross matches an employee’s contributions to their personal pension fund, to a maximum of 6% of basic 
salary. This can be achieved through salary sacrifice and the British Red Cross pays half of the employer’s national insurance contribution saved as a result to the 
individual’s fund.

Final salary*** - the defined benefit British Red Cross Pension Fund was closed to new entrants with effect from 1 September 1997. Employer contributions of 27.5% 
of basic salary are made on behalf of each serving member, who also contributes 16%.

Job title Key areas of responsibility

Basic 
annual 
salary

Pension 
entitlement

Chief executive* Leading the organisation, which has an annual income of over £275m and 
employs over 4,100 staff and 21,500 volunteers, delivering services and 
programmes in the UK and globally

£173,000 GPP**

Executive director 
of fundraising

Responsible for a staff team of over 900, some 7,000 volunteers and over 
1 million supporters along with millions of shoppers in our 300 plus shops 
throughout the UK, delivering income of around £185m.

£120,000 GPP**

Executive director 
of finance, 
planning and 
resources

Financial systems and processes; financial planning and performance 
management; organisational planning and strategy development; 
procurement; legal; audit and risk management; property; treasury 
management; banking

£120,000 GPP**

Executive director 
of people learning 
and strategic 
change

UK and international HR for over 4,100 staff; volunteer management 
for 21,500 volunteers; learning and development; youth education and 
engagement; health, safety and security; occupational health and project 
management office and oversight of strategic change programme

£110,000 Final salary***

Executive director 
of international

All international strategy; programming; national society partnership 
development; support in capacity building; emblem advice and support; 
relationship with DFiD and movement relations.

£105,000 GPP**

Executive director 
of UK operations

All service delivery in UK through both area operations teams and nationally 
led functions including over 2000 staff and 14,500 volunteers with an 
expenditure of £100 million; support in emergencies in the UK; education; 
relationships with commissioning bodies and UK focussed government 
bodies; all property, vehicles and other resources in UK operations.

£105,000 Final salary***

Executive director 
of communications 
and engagement

PR and public affairs; brand management and marketing; internal 
communications; advocacy; research; and engagement.

£100,000 GPP**

Chief information 
officer

Information and IT strategy and systems; digital strategy; business 
continuity; information governance and IT security

£100,000 GPP**
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Public benefit

The board of trustees has given 
regard to the legislative and regulatory 
requirements for disclosing how its 
charitable objectives (as set out in our 
Royal Charter) have provided benefit to 
the public. The board of trustees has 
complied with the duty set out in section 
17 of the Charities act 2011 and that set 
out by the Office of the Scottish Charity 
Regulator in the Charities and Trustee 
Investment (Scotland) Act 2005. This 
report outlines how our achievements 
during 2015 have benefited the public, 
either directly or indirectly. 

On behalf of the trustees

  

David Bernstein CBE 
Chair of the board of trustees 
6 April 2016
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Independent auditor’s report  
to the trustees of the British Red Cross

66 Every day. Every way.

 

We have audited the financial statements 
of the British Red Cross for the year ended 
31 December 2015 which comprise the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Activities, the Consolidated and Charity 
Balance Sheets, the Consolidated Cash Flow 
Statement and the related notes 1 to 25. The 
financial reporting framework that has been 
applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards 
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice), including FRS 102 
“The Financial Reporting Standard applicable 
in the UK and Republic of Ireland”.

This report is made solely to the charity’s 
trustees, as a body, in accordance with 
section 144 of the Charities Act 2011, 
regulations made under section 154 of that 
Act, section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and 
Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 
and regulation 10 of the Charities Accounts 
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended). 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that 
we might state to the charity’s trustees those 
matters we are required to state to them in 
an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we 
do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the charity and the 
charity’s trustees as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed.

Respective responsibilities of trustees 
and auditor
As explained more fully in the Trustees’ 
Responsibilities Statement, the trustees are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements which give a true and fair view.

We have been appointed as auditor under 
section 144 of the Charities Act 2011 and 
section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee 
Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and report 
in accordance with regulations made under 
those Acts. Our responsibility is to audit 
and express an opinion on the financial 
statements in accordance with applicable law 
and International Standards on Auditing (UK 
and Ireland). Those standards require us to 
comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s 
Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the  
financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement, whether 
caused by fraud or error. This includes an 
assessment of: whether the accounting 
policies are appropriate to the group’s 
and the parent charity’s circumstances 
and have been consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed; the reasonableness 
of significant accounting estimates made by 
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the trustees; and the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. In addition, we read 
all the financial and non-financial information 
in the annual report to identify material 
inconsistencies with the audited financial 
statements and to identify any information 
that is apparently materially incorrect based 
on, or materially inconsistent with, the 
knowledge acquired by us in the course of 
performing the audit. If we become aware 
of any apparent material misstatements or 
inconsistencies we consider the implications 
for our report.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:

>  give a true and fair view of the state of 
the group’s and of the parent charity’s 
affairs as at 31 December 2015 and 
of the group’s incoming resources and 
application of resources, for the year 
then ended;

>  have been properly prepared in 
accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting  
Practice; and

>  have been prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of the Charities 
Act 2011, the Charities and Trustee 
Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and 
regulation 8 of the Charities Accounts 
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended).

Matters on which we are required to 
report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the 
following matters where the Charities Act 
2011 and the Charity Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006 (as amended) requires us to 
report to you if, in our opinion:

>  the information given in the Trustees’ 
Annual Report is inconsistent in any 
material respect with the financial 
statements; or

>  proper accounting records have not been 
kept by the parent charity; or

>  the parent charity financial statements 
are not in agreement with the accounting 
records and returns; or

>  we have not received all the information 
and explanations we require for our audit.

Deloitte LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor 
London, UK

6 April 2016

Deloitte LLP is eligible to act as an auditor in 
terms of section 1212 of the Companies Act 
2006 and consequently to act as the auditor 
of a registered charity.
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2015
Total

£m

Restated 
Unrestricted

£m

Restated 
Restricted

£m

Restated 
2014
Total

£mNotes
Unrestricted

£m
Restricted

£m
Income from:

Donations and legacies 2 113.9 38.9 152.8 105.6 32.7 138.3

Charitable activities
UK
Emergency response 8.5 0.1 8.6 6.4 0.4 6.8
Refugees and migration 0.1 1.1 1.2 0.1 0.9 1.0
First aid 16.5 0.2 16.7 15.9 0.4 16.3
Independent living 29.0 2.1 31.1 25.9 0.9 26.8
International 0.4 29.0 29.4 1.3 33.1 34.4
Total income from charitable activities 3 54.5 32.5 87.0 49.6 35.7 85.3

Other trading activities
Retail 23.4 6.5 29.9 29.0 - 29.0
Other fundraising activities 2.2 0.1 2.3 2.1 0.1 2.2
Rent 0.2 - 0.2 0.2 - 0.2
Total income from other trading activities 25.8 6.6 32.4 31.3 0.1 31.4

Investments - 0.3 0.3 0.3 - 0.3

Other
Miscellaneous income 0.5 0.4 0.9 0.3 0.1 0.4
Net gains on disposal of tangible fixed assets 1.7 - 1.7 6.1 - 6.1

Total income 196.4 78.7 275.1 193.2 68.6 261.8

Consolidated statement of financial activities
For the year ended 31 December 2015

Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2015

SECTION 10 Accounts
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... Continued

All the activities relate to continuing operations.
For the parent charity, total incoming resources for the year are £273.2m (2014: £258.3m), total resources expended are £257.8m (2014: £254.7m) and net movement in 
funds is a surplus of £15.0m (2014: £4.6m).
Comparatives for 2014 have been restated under the Charities SORP (FRS 102). See note 23 for details.

Notes
Unrestricted

£m
Restricted

£m

2015
Total

£m

Restated 
Unrestricted

£m

Restated 
Restricted

£m

Restated 
2014
Total

£m
Expenditure on:
Raising funds
Fundraising 37.8 1.9 39.7 47.6 2.6 50.2
Retail 25.0 - 25.0 23.0 - 23.0
Total expenditure on raising funds 62.8 1.9 64.7 70.6 2.6 73.2

Charitable activities
UK
Emergency response 23.6 2.0 25.6 21.4 1.0 22.4
Refugees and migration 10.4 2.0 12.4 8.6 1.3 9.9
First aid 23.4 1.1 24.5 24.6 0.5 25.1
Independent living 50.7 5.1 55.8 48.1 2.2 50.3
International 11.7 65.0 76.7 19.4 56.3 75.7
Total expenditure on charitable activities 119.8 75.2 195.0 122.1 61.3 183.4

Total expenditure 4 182.6 77.1 259.7 192.7 63.9 256.6

Net gains on investments 10 - - - 0.1 0.4 0.5

Net income 13.8 1.6 15.4 0.6 5.1 5.7

Transfers between funds 7, 8 0.3 (0.3) - 0.3 (0.3) -

Other recognised gains / (losses):
Actuarial (losses) / gains on defined benefit pension 
schemes 16 (0.4) - (0.4) 0.3 - 0.3

Net movement in funds 13.7 1.3 15.0 1.2 4.8 6.0

Total funds at 1 January as previously stated 90.6 44.4 135.0 90.2 39.6 129.8

Changes on transition to Charities SORP (FRS 102) 23 0.4 - 0.4 (0.4) - (0.4)

Total funds at 1 January as restated 91.0 44.4 135.4 89.8 39.6 129.4

Total funds at 31 December 7, 8 104.7 45.7 150.4 91.0 44.4 135.4

Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2015



Notes

2015
Group

£m

Restated  
2014

Group
£m

2015
Charity

£m

Restated  
2014

Charity
£m

Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets 9 63.9 61.1 61.7 58.9
Investments 10 30.0 19.7 30.0 19.7

93.9 80.8 91.7 78.6

Current assets
Stocks 11 4.9 4.0 4.8 3.9
Debtors 12 35.0 34.6 35.7 35.3
Investments 10 19.2 27.8 19.2 27.8
Cash at bank and in hand 11.6 4.9 10.3 3.5

70.7 71.3 70.0 70.5

Current liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 13 (15.1) (17.3) (14.9) (17.0)

Net current assets 55.6 54.0 55.1 53.5

Total assets less current liabilities 149.5 134.8 146.8 132.1
Creditors: amounts falling due in more than one year (0.3) (0.3) (0.3) (0.3)
Provision for liabilities and charges 14 (4.4) (4.5) (4.4) (4.5)

Net assets before pension scheme surplus 144.8 130.0 142.1 127.3

Defined benefit pension scheme surplus 16 5.6 5.4 5.6 5.4

Net assets 150.4 135.4 147.7 132.7

Funds:

Restricted funds 7 45.7 44.4 43.0 41.7

Unrestricted funds held as tangible fixed assets 8 57.5 54.0 57.5 54.0
Defined benefit pension scheme fund 8 5.6 5.4 5.6 5.4
Designated funds 8 1.5 - 1.5 -
Free reserves 8 40.1 31.6 40.1 31.6

Unrestricted funds 104.7 91.0 104.7 91.0

Total funds 150.4 135.4 147.7 132.7

Consolidated and charity balance sheets
As at 31 December 2015

Approved by the board of trustees on 6 April 2016 and signed on its behalf by

Comparatives for 2014 have been restated under the Charities SORP (FRS 102). See note 23 for details.

David Bernstein CBE, Chair, board of trustees Michael Adamson, Chief executive   
6 April 2016 6 April 2016   
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The 2014 ‘net income for the reporting period’ comparative has been restated by £0.5m due to the Charities SORP (FRS 102) requirement that ‘net gains on investments’ are 
disclosed above ‘net income’ on the SOFA. Comparatives have also been restated for the movements in creditors and provisions, detailed in note 23.

Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2015

Reconciliation of net income to net cash flow from operating activities
2015

£m

Restated  
2014

£m

Net income for the reporting period (as per the statement of financial activities) 15.4 5.7
Adjustments for:
Depreciation charges 5.3 5.5
Net gains on investments - (0.5)
Net gains on disposal of tangible fixed assets (1.7) (6.1)
Increase in stocks (0.9) (0.7)
Increase in debtors (0.4) (2.6)
Decrease in creditors (2.2) (1.3)
Decrease in provisions for liabilities and charges (0.1) (1.9)
Net charges for defined benefit pension scheme (0.6) (0.7)
Donation of net assets from Bermuda Red Cross Charitable Trust - (1.4)
Foreign currency gain on net assets of Bermuda Red Cross Charitable Trust - (0.1)

Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities 14.8 (4.1)

Notes
2015

£m
2014

£mStatement of cash flows

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities 14.8 (4.1)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sale of fixed asset investments 19.7 -
Purchase of fixed asset investments (30.0) -
Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets 2.1 8.2
Purchase of tangible fixed assets (8.5) (4.2)

Net cash (used in) / provided by investing activities (16.7) 4.0

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting period (1.9) (0.1)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period 32.4 32.5

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period 18 30.5 32.4



1.  Accounting policies

(a)   Scope and basis of the  
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared under the historical cost convention, 
as modified by the revaluation of investments 
at market value, and are in accordance with 
the Statement of Recommended Practice: 
Accounting and Reporting by Charities preparing 
their accounts in accordance with the Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (‘the SORP’), FRS 
102: The Financial Reporting Standard applicable 
in the UK and Republic of Ireland (‘FRS 102’), the 
Charities Act 2011 and UK Generally Accepted 
Practice as it applies from 1 January 2015.

The financial statements have been prepared on 
a going concern basis. This is discussed in the 
Trustees’ report at page 57 under the heading 
‘going concern’.

The British Red Cross constitutes a public benefit 
entity as defined by FRS 102.

These financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2015 are the first financial statements 
that comply with FRS 102. The date of transition 
is 1 January 2014. The transition to FRS 102 
has resulted in a small number of changes in 

accounting policies to those used previously.  
The prior year financial statements were restated 
for material adjustments on adoption of FRS 102 
in the current year. An explanation of how the 
transition to FRS 102 has affected the reported 
financial position and financial performance  
is given in note 23 to the consolidated  
financial statements. 

The consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared to give a true and fair view and 
have departed from the Charities (Accounts and 
Reports) Regulations 2008 only to the extent 
required to provide a true and fair view. This 
departure has involved following the SORP rather 
than Accounting and Reporting by Charities: 
Statement of Recommended Practice (revised 
2005) which has been withdrawn. The impact of 
this departure is further explained at note 23.

The preparation of the financial statements in 
accordance with FRS 102 requires the trustees 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of policies and reported 
amounts in the financial statements.The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement, or areas 
where assumptions or estimates were significant to 
the financial statements are disclosed in note 24.

The financial statements incorporate the results 
of all material activities overseas where the British 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2015

SECTION 10

72 Every day. Every way.

Accounts



Red Cross has operational responsibility. The 
results and net assets of Red Cross operations 
in five British overseas branches have been 
included in the financial statements.

Overseas entities which are separately locally 
incorporated, and were previously accounted for 
as branches, are now, under the SORP, excluded 
from being accounted for as branches and are 
instead accounted for as subsidiary undertakings. 
This revised accounting treatment applies to 
our operations in the Turks and Caicos Islands, 
Bermuda and the Cayman Islands, the impact of 
which is further explained at note six of the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements.

The results and balance sheets of the British Red 
Cross’ subsidiary undertakings, Britcross Limited, 
the Bermuda Red Cross Charitable Trust, 
Bermuda Red Cross, Cayman Islands Red Cross 
and the Turks and Caicos Islands Red Cross 
have been consolidated on a line by line basis.  
All subsidiary undertakings prepare accounts to 
31 December. 

A separate statement of financial activities has 
not been presented for the charity alone as  
this is not considered to be materially different 
from the consolidated statement of financial 
activities (SOFA).

(b)  Fund accounting

Unrestricted funds are available for use at the 
discretion of the trustees in furtherance of the 
general charitable objectives. A pension reserve 
is included within unrestricted funds to reflect 
the pension surplus. Designated funds are a 
portion of the unrestricted funds that have been  
set aside for a particular purpose by  
the trustees.

Restricted funds are donated for either a 
particular geographical area or purpose, the 
use of which is restricted to that area or 
purpose. Such donations are principally for 
international purposes.

(c) Incoming resources

All income is accounted for when the  
British Red Cross has entitlement to the funds, 
the amount can be quantified and receipt of the 
funds is probable. Where income is received in 
advance of providing goods and/or services, it 
is deferred until the British Red Cross becomes 
entitled to that income. 

Unless there is evidence of uncertainty of 
receipt, residuary legacies are recognised  
from the date of probate where a reliable 
estimate of income can be made. Income  
from will or reversionary trusts is not
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recognised until the life interest has passed 
away. Income from pecuniary legacies is 
recognised upon notification. 

Disasters Emergency Committee (DEC) 
appeal income is recognised to the  
extent that resources have been committed 
on programmes funded through the 
DEC appeals. 

Gifts donated for resale are included as 
income when they are sold. Donated assets 
and services are included at the value to 
the British Red Cross where this can be 
reliably quantified.  Donated services from 
our volunteers are not included within the 
financial statements. 

(d) Resources expended and basis of 
allocation of cost

All expenditure is accounted for on an 
accruals basis.

Direct costs are those specifically related 
to producing the output of an activity, for 
example the costs incurred in direct contact 
with beneficiaries.

Support costs are those which provide 
indirect support to front-line output 
provision – examples are central finance, 
human resources, governance costs and 
management information services. Support 
costs not attributable to a single activity 

have been allocated on a basis consistent 
with identified cost drivers for that cost 
category such as staff head count, floor 
space and expenditure.

(e) Tangible fixed assets and depreciation

All tangible fixed assets costing more than 
£1,000 are capitalised and included at 
cost, including any incidental expenses 
of acquisition and irrecoverable VAT.  
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line 
basis over their useful economic lives  
as follows:
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Freehold properties 50 years

Leasehold properties the shorter of the term of 
the lease and 50 years

Freehold premises 
improvements

ten years

Leasehold premises 
improvements

the shorter of the term of 
the lease and ten years

Ambulances the shorter of useful life 
and seven years

Other vehicles the shorter of useful life 
and five years

Equipment and furniture five years

Computer equipment 
and software

between two and 
five years

Freehold land nil
Assets in course of 
construction nil

Every day. Every way.

Accounts



(f)  Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities 
are recognised when the British Red 
Cross becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.  All financial 
assets and liabilities are initially measured 
at transaction price (including transaction 
costs). The British Red Cross only has 
financial assets and financial liabilities 
of a kind that qualify as basic financial 
instruments. Basic financial instruments  
are initially recognised at transaction 
value and subsequently measured at their 
settlement value.

Trade and other debtors are recognised at 
the settlement amount due after any trade 
discount offered. Prepayments are valued 
at the amount prepaid net of any trade 
discounts due.  Creditors and provisions 
are recognised where the British Red Cross 
has a present obligation resulting from a 
past event that will probably result in the 
transfer of funds to a third party and the 
amount due to settle the obligation can be 
measured or estimated reliably. Creditors 
and provisions are normally recognised at 
their settlement amount after allowing for 
any trade discounts due.

(g)  Pensions 

Defined benefit pension schemes

Pension assets and liabilities are recorded in 
line with FRS 102, with scheme valuations 
undertaken by independent actuaries. FRS 
102 measures the value of pension assets 
and liabilities at the balance sheet date and 
determines the benefits accrued in the year 
and the interest on assets and liabilities.

Current service costs, together with the  
net interest cost for the year, are allocated 
to relevant expenditure headings within  
the SOFA. 

Scheme assets are measured at fair value 
at the balance sheet date. Scheme liabilities 
are measured on an actuarial basis at the 
balance sheet date using the projected unit 
method and discounted at a rate equivalent 
to the current rate of return on a high-
quality corporate bond of equivalent term to 
the scheme liabilities. 

The change in value of assets and liabilities 
arising from asset valuation, changes 
in benefits, actuarial assumptions, or 
change in the level of deficit attributable to 
members is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of financial activities within 
actuarial gains/losses on defined benefit 
pension schemes. 
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The resulting defined benefit asset or 
liability is presented separately on the 
face of the balance sheet. The  
British Red Cross recognises assets 
for its defined benefit pension schemes 
to the extent that they are considered 
recoverable through reduced 
contributions in the future, or through 
refunds from the scheme.

Defined contribution pension schemes

Pension costs in respect of defined 
contribution schemes are charged to 
the SOFA for the period in which they 
are payable. Such costs are allocated to 
activities and between funds according to 
an employee’s normal job function. 

(h) Investments

Investments are stated at market value 
at the balance sheet date and the 
consolidated statement of financial 
activities shows net investment gains 
and losses arising from revaluation of the 
investment portfolio and disposals during 
the year.

(i) Stocks

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value. Provision is 
made for obsolete, slow-moving or 
defective stock where appropriate. As it 
is not practical to value items donated for 
resale on receipt, they are not recognised 
in the financial statements until they are 
sold. Emergency stocks held for disaster 
response are transferred from stock to 
resources expended when issued from 
the warehouse.

(j)  Value added tax

Irrecoverable value added tax is allocated 
to the category of expenditure to which  
it relates. 

(k)  Provisions

Provisions are recognised when 
the British Red Cross has a legal or 
constructive financial obligation, that  
can be reliably estimated and for which 
there is an expectation that payment will 
be made.
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(l)  Operating leases

Rentals under operating leases are charged 
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms, 
even if the payments are not made on such 
a basis. Benefits received and receivable as 
an incentive to sign an operating lease are, 
similarly, spread on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term.

(m)  Foreign currencies

The British Red Cross uses forward 
exchange contracts to hedge some of 
its known foreign exchange exposure. 
Transactions in foreign currencies are 
recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing 
at the date of the transaction, except where 
a forward contract is in place, in which case 
the rate specified in the contract is used.

Monetary assets and liabilities are translated 
into sterling at the exchange rate ruling on 
the balance sheet date, except where a 
forward contract is in place, in which case 
the relevant asset/liability is translated at the 
rate contained in the contract.

Foreign exchange gains are recognised 
as other income and foreign exchange 
losses are recognised in the consolidated 
statement of financial activities within the 
relevant charitable activity expenditure for 
the period in which they are incurred.

(n)  Programme commitments 

The British Red Cross regularly pledges 
support to programmes led by the 
International Federation of Red Cross and 
Red Crescent Societies (IFRC), International 
Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC) 
or other National Societies. Where full 
payment of the pledges is contingent on 
the outcome of British Red Cross reviews 
of the programmes, these programme 
commitments are contingent liabilities  
and therefore not recognised on the 
balance sheet.



Unrestricted
£m

Restricted
£m

2015
Total

£m

Restated 
Unrestricted

£m

Restated  
Restricted

£m

Restated 
2014
Total 

£m

Regular giving 50.0 2.6 52.6 50.2 0.9 51.1

Public donations, appeals and fundraising 18.8 26.4 45.2 18.8 21.3 40.1

Donations to services 2.1 0.1 2.2 2.3 - 2.3

Gift aid 12.7 2.3 15.0 13.1 1.5 14.6

Legacies 30.3 2.3 32.6 21.2 1.0 22.2

Disasters Emergency Committee appeals - 5.2 5.2 - 6.6 6.6

Donation of net assets from Bermuda Red Cross Charitable Trust - - - - 1.4 1.4

Total 113.9 38.9 152.8 105.6 32.7 138.3

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2015

2. Donations and legacies

3. Income from charitable activities

Legacy income is not recognised until the British Red Cross has entitlement to the funds, the amount can be quantified and there is probability of receipt. The estimated value 
of legacies, which have been notified, but not recognised at 31 December 2015 was £8.1m (2014: £8.7m) of which £4.3m (2014: £6.1m) are assets bequeathed to the British 
Red Cross, but subject to life tenancy.      

Disasters Emergency Committee (DEC) appeal income is recognised to the extent that resources have been committed on programmes funded through the DEC appeals. 
Subject to our agreed allocation, the value of DEC appeal income not drawn down or accrued for at 31 December 2015 was £5.9m (2014: £0.5m).

During 2015, gifts in kind of £0.8m (2014: £0.4m) were received. These were food donations for our refugee services, pro-bono legal work and donated advertising space.

On 29 January 2014, the Bermuda Red Cross Charitable Trust amended its constitution, bringing it under the control of the British Red Cross. The net assets brought in at fair 
value in 2014 were £1.4m and this was accounted for as a gift and included in voluntary income in 2014.

The 2014 ‘public donations, appeals and fundraising’ comparatives have been restated by £2.2m due to the Charities SORP (FRS 102) requirement that fundraising income 
received in exchange for supplying goods and services must be included under ‘other trading activities’.

International grant income includes grants from the UK Government’s Department for International Development (DFID) totalling £26.9m (2014: £31.5m):  
> £14.9m to support emergency response programmes in countries including Greece, Turkey, Italy, Nepal, Vanuatu, Liberia and Sierra Leone  
> £9.0m received as part of the International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies (IFRC) Institutional Strategy Agreement with DFID  
> £1.6m received as part of the British Red Cross’ Programme Partnership Arrangement (PPA) with DFID    
> £1.1m to support long-term programmes in countries including Nepal, Kenya and Uganda 
> £0.3m to support an IFRC research project. 
There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attached to these grants.

Contracts
and fees

£m
Grants

£m

2015
Total

£m

Contracts
and fees

£m
Grants

£m

2014
Total

£m

UK

Emergency response 8.6 - 8.6 6.6 0.2 6.8

Refugees and migration - 1.2 1.2 - 1.0 1.0

First aid 16.5 0.2 16.7 15.9 0.4 16.3

Independent living - Care and support programmes 18.0 2.2 20.2 15.8 1.7 17.5

Independent living - Medical equipment services 10.6 0.3 10.9 9.0 0.3 9.3

53.7 3.9 57.6 47.3 3.6 50.9

International 0.8 28.6 29.4 1.7 32.7 34.4

Total 54.5 32.5 87.0 49.0 36.3 85.3
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4. Expenditure Direct
Costs

£m
Grants

£m

Support
Costs

£m

2015
Total

£m

Restated 
2014
Total

£m

Raising funds
Fundraising 37.9 - 1.8 39.7 50.2
Retail 24.3 - 0.7 25.0 23.0

62.2 - 2.5 64.7 73.2

Charitable activities

UK
Emergency response 23.2 0.2 2.2 25.6 22.4
Refugees and migration 11.2 - 1.2 12.4 9.9
First aid 21.6 - 2.9 24.5 25.1
Independent living - Care and support programme 33.4 - 5.0 38.4 34.9
Independent living - Medical equipment services 16.1 - 1.3 17.4 15.4

105.5 0.2 12.6 118.3 107.7

International 24.6 49.6 2.5 76.7 75.7

130.1 49.8 15.1 195.0 183.4

Total 192.3 49.8 17.6 259.7 256.6

The basis of allocation of support costs is described in note 1(d) and further analysis is provided in Note 5. It is not appropriate to split support costs between direct costs and 
grants due to the dual role played by programme support functions.

Our total expenditure includes irrecoverable VAT of £3.1m (2014: £3.1m) and fees to auditors for audit of financial statements of £0.1m (2014: £0.1m).

Comparatives for 2014 have been restated under the Charities SORP (FRS 102) for £3.1m, which was previously disclosed as governance costs and is now allocated 
as support costs. £2.0m for our international family tracing service is now disclosed under ‘refugees and migration’, rather than ‘emergency response’. £0.7m has been 
reallocated from ‘first aid’ to other categories due to a reorganisation of our education services.     
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Grants
2015
Total

£mGrant recipients Purpose

International Federation of Red Cross and  
Red Crescent Societies (IFRC)
IFRC DFID Institutional Strategy with Federation 9.0
IFRC Europe refugee crisis 5.2
IFRC Ebola outbreak 4.8
IFRC Nepal earthquake 4.5
IFRC Syria and region crisis 1.9
IFRC Typhoon Haiyan 1.3
IFRC Tropical Cyclone Pam 0.5
IFRC Various 3.7

30.9

International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC)
ICRC Gaza and Israel crisis 0.6
ICRC South Sudan crisis 0.4
ICRC Various 0.7

1.7

Red Cross National Societies 
Philippine Red Cross Typhoon Haiyan 4.0
Nepal Red Cross Nepal earthquake 2.1
Kenya Red Cross Community resilience and water and sanitation programme 1.7
South African Red Cross HIV Phase II programme 1.6
Lesotho Red Cross HIV and livelihoods programme 0.6
Bangladesh Red Cross Integrated community resilience programme 0.6
Lebanese Red Cross Cash transfer programme 0.6
Palestine Red Crescent Gaza and Israel crisis 0.5
Sierra Leone Red Cross Community resilience and organisational development programme 0.4

South African Red Cross Organisational development programme 0.4
Other Red Cross National Societies Various 4.4

16.9

Other grants
Institutions Various 0.1
Individuals Various 0.2

49.8
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5. Support costs by activity 

Support costs have been allocated on the basis of the accounting policy set out in note 1 (d).

Governance costs relate to the direct running of the charity, allowing the charity to operate and generate the information required for public accountability. They include the 
costs of subscriptions related to membership of the International Red Cross and Red Crescent Movement of £1.8m (2014: £1.8m), as well as the costs of trustee meetings 
and internal and external audits.

Comparatives for 2014 have been restated under the Charities SORP (FRS 102) for £3.1m of governance costs, which were previously disclosed separately on the SOFA, 
rather than included under support costs.

Raising
funds

£m

Emergency 
response

£m

Refugees 
and

migration
£m

First aid
£m

Independ-
ent

living
£m

Interna-
tional

£m

2015
Total

£m

Restated 
2014
Total

£m

Finance 0.8 0.2 0.1 0.3 0.5 0.9 2.8 2.8
Human resources 0.2 0.4 0.2 0.5 1.2 0.1 2.6 2.3
Central facilities 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.5 1.0 0.1 2.3 2.4
Information and digital technology 1.0 0.9 0.6 1.3 2.9 0.3 7.0 5.6
Central management 0.1 0.1 - - 0.1 0.1 0.4 0.3
Governance 0.2 0.3 0.1 0.3 0.6 1.0 2.5 3.1

Total 2.5 2.2 1.2 2.9 6.3 2.5 17.6 16.5

Britcross Limited 
Britcross Limited, the British Red Cross’ wholly owned trading subsidiary incorporated in the United Kingdom, engages in the sale of cards and gifts as 
well as receiving corporate sponsorship in aid of the British Red Cross. 

The income and expenditure of Britcross Limited included within the consolidated statement of financial activities are: 2015
£m

2014
£m

Income 1.3 1.6
Expenditure (0.6) (0.9)

Net income donated to British Red Cross 0.7 0.7

The assets and liabilities of Britcross Limited consolidated within the balance sheet are:
2015

£m
2014

£m

Current assets 0.9 1.0
Current liabilities (0.9) (1.0)

Net assets - -

6. Subsidiaries



Overseas subsidiaries
The British Red Cross has four wholly owned subsidiaries incorporated overseas: the Bermuda Red Cross Charitable Trust, the Bermuda 
Red Cross, the Cayman Islands Red Cross and the Turks and Caicos Islands Red Cross. On transition to the Charities SORP (FRS 102), the 
Bermuda Red Cross, the Cayman Islands Red Cross and the Turks and Caicos Islands Red Cross have been accounted for as subsidiary 
undertakings, whereas previously they had been accounted for as branches.

The income and expenditure of the overseas subsidiaries included within the consolidated statement of financial activities are: 

There are five overseas branches (Anguilla, British Virgin Islands, Falkland Islands, Gilbratar and Montserrat) which are included in the results of 
the charity as branches.
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2015 

£m
2014

£m
2015

£m
2014

£m
2015

£m
2014

£m
2015

£m
2014

£m

Income 0.1 0.2 0.6 0.5 0.5 0.4 0.1 0.1
Expenditure - (0.1) (0.6) (0.6) (0.5) (0.3) (0.2) (0.2)

Net income / (expenditure) 0.1 0.1 - (0.1) - 0.1 (0.1) (0.1)

The assets and liabilities of the overseas subsidiaries consolidated within the balance sheet are:

                                        
2015

£m
2014

£m
2015

£m
2014

£m
2015

£m
2014

£m
2015 

£m
2014

£m

Fixed assets 1.6 1.6 - - 0.6 0.6 - -
Current assets - - 0.1 0.2 0.5 0.5 0.1 0.2
Current liabilities - (0.1) - (0.1) - - (0.2) (0.2)

Net assets / (liabilities) 1.6 1.5 0.1 0.1 1.1 1.1 (0.1) -

SECTION 10

6. Subsidiaries continued

Every day. Every way.

Accounts

Bermuda Red Cross 
Charitable Trust

 Bermuda  
Red Cross

Cayman Islands  
Red Cross
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UK restricted funds 
UK restricted funds include: 
> £3.4m of properties and other tangible fixed assets held for restricted purposes 
> a variety of local, national and European funding sources to deliver projects over the 
next two to three years 
> legacies with a geographical and/or service restriction.

The balance of UK restricted funds is held for the provision of locally agreed services.
International restricted funds 
Significant programmes of work are planned for the disbursement of international 
restricted fund balances as at 31 December 2015. Other international restricted  
funds include: 

> for the group, £3.8m represented by net assets of the overseas subsidiaries and 
branches (for the charity, £1.1m represented by net assets of the overseas branches) 
> £2.8m for the second phase of HIV and AIDS prevention programme in South Africa 
> £0.6m deficit for the Kenya Water and Sanitation programme, which is funded 
quarterly in arrears by DFID.

Disaster Fund 
The Disaster Fund allows us to prepare for and respond to humanitarian disasters 
abroad and in the UK.  We fundraise specifically for the Disaster Fund and, as  
stated on emergency appeal materials, it can also contain funds donated to emergency 
appeals where we raise more than can be reasonably and efficiently spent on that 
specific response.

7. Restricted funds Balance
1 January 2015

£m
Income

£m
Expenditure

£m
Transfers

£m

Balance 
31 December 2015

£mGroup

Total UK restricted funds 12.0 12.9 (11.9) 1.0 14.0

Nepal earthquake 0.3 13.7 (10.3) (0.5) 3.2
Syria and region 5.8 6.6 (6.4) - 6.0
Typhoon Haiyan 7.8 2.6 (6.2) - 4.2
Europe refugee crisis - 9.9 (5.9) (1.1) 2.9
Ebola outbreak 4.3 4.9 (5.5) - 3.7
DFID Institutional Strategy with Federation - 9.0 (9.0) - -

Other international restricted funds 11.5 18.0 (20.0) (0.3) 9.2

Total international restricted funds 29.7 64.7 (63.3) (1.9) 29.2

Disaster fund 2.7 1.1 (1.9) 0.6 2.5

Total restricted funds 44.4 78.7 (77.1) (0.3) 45.7

Restated Balance
1 January 2015

£m
Income

£m
Expenditure

£m
Transfers

£m

Balance 
31 December 2015

£mCharity

Total UK restricted funds 12.0 12.9 (11.9) 1.0 14.0

Nepal earthquake 0.3 13.7 (10.3) (0.5) 3.2
Syria and region 5.8 6.6 (6.4) - 6.0
Typhoon Haiyan 7.8 2.6 (6.2) - 4.2
Europe refugee crisis - 9.9 (5.9) (1.1) 2.9
Ebola outbreak 4.3 4.9 (5.5) - 3.7
DFID Institutional Strategy with Federation - 9.0 (9.0) - -

Other international restricted funds 8.8 16.7 (18.7) (0.3) 6.5

Total international restricted funds 27.0 63.4 (62.0) (1.9) 26.5

Disaster fund 2.7 1.1 (1.9) 0.6 2.5

Total restricted funds 41.7 77.4 (75.8) (0.3) 43.0

Expenditure plans have been agreed for all material restricted funds. Funds are held in appropriate asset categories in accordance with planned usage. 
Charity restricted funds at 1 January 2015 have been restated under the Charities SORP (FRS 102). See note 23 for details.
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8. Unrestricted funds Restated 
Balance

1 January
2015

£m
Income

£m
Expenditure

£m

Actuarial
losses on 

defined benefit  
pension schemes

£m
Transfers

£m

Balance
31 December

2015
£m

Group

Unrestricted funds held as tangible fixed assets 54.0 - (4.8) - 8.3 57.5
Defined benefit pension scheme fund 5.4 - - (0.4) 0.6 5.6
Designated funds - - - - 1.5 1.5
Free reserves 31.6 196.4 (177.8) - (10.1) 40.1

Total unrestricted funds 91.0 196.4 (182.6) (0.4) 0.3 104.7

Charity

Unrestricted funds held as tangible fixed assets 54.0 - (4.8) - 8.3 57.5
Defined benefit pension scheme fund 5.4 - - (0.4) 0.6 5.6
Designated funds - - - - 1.5 1.5
Free reserves 31.6 195.8 (177.2) - (10.1) 40.1

Total unrestricted funds 91.0 195.8 (182.0) (0.4) 0.3 104.7

SECTION 10

The £8.3m transfer to unrestricted funds held as tangible fixed assets represents fixed asset net additions of £8.3m in unrestricted funds.

The trustees approved £1.5m to be designated for use in our HIV and AIDS prevention programme in South Africa.

Unrestricted funds at 1 January 2015 have been restated under the Charities SORP (FRS 102). See note 23 for details.
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9. Tangible fixed assets 
Freehold
property

£m

Leasehold
property

£m

Vehicles,
equipment

and furniture
£m

Assets in the 
course of 

construction
£m

Total
£mCost

At 1 January 2015 48.1 38.0 51.3 1.4 138.8 
Completions -  0.1 0.6 (0.7) -  
Additions 1.7 1.1 4.1 1.6 8.5 
Disposals (0.6) (0.5) (1.9) -  (3.0) 

At 31 December 2015 49.2 38.7 54.1 2.3 144.3 

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2015 16.9 16.3 44.5 -  77.7 
Charge 1.3 1.3 2.7 -  5.3 
Disposals (0.3) (0.4) (1.9) -  (2.6) 

At 31 December 2015 17.9 17.2 45.3 -  80.4 

Net book value

At 31 December 2015 31.3 21.5 8.8 2.3 63.9 

At 31 December 2014 31.2 21.7 6.8 1.4 61.1

Freehold
property

£m

Leasehold
property

£m

Vehicles,
equipment

and furniture
£m

Assets in the 
course of 

construction
£m

Total
£m

Charity

Cost

At 1 January 2015 (restated) 45.1 38.0 51.3 1.4 135.8 
Completions -  0.1 0.6 (0.7) -  
Additions 1.6 1.1 4.1 1.6 8.4 
Disposals (0.6) (0.5) (1.9) -  (3.0) 

At 31 December 2015 46.1 38.7 54.1 2.3 141.2 

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2015 (restated) 16.1 16.3 44.5 -  76.9 
Charge 1.2 1.3 2.7 -  5.2 
Disposals (0.3) (0.4) (1.9) -  (2.6) 

At 31 December 2015 17.0 17.2 45.3 -  79.5 

Net book value

At 31 December 2015 29.1 21.5 8.8 2.3 61.7

At 31 December 2014 (restated) 29.0 21.7 6.8 1.4 58.9

Group

Charity figures at 1 January 2015 and the 2014 comparatives have been restated under the Charities SORP (FRS 102) for fixed assets belonging to overseas subsidiaries, 
which were previously accounted for as branches. The net book value of these assets at 1 January 2015 is £0.6m (cost £1.4m and accumulated depreciation £0.8m).
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10. Investments 

11. Stocks 

Fixed asset
investments

£m

Current asset
investments

£m
Total

£m

Market value at 1 January 2015 19.7 27.8 47.5
Additions at cost 30.0 9.9 39.9
Disposals at market value (19.7) (18.5) (38.2)

Market value at 31 December 2015 30.0 19.2 49.2

Cost at 31 December 2015 30.0 19.2 49.2

Asset
class

Market value
2015

£m

Market value
2014

£m

Fixed asset investments

UK investments
Kames Capital Ethical Corporate Bond Fund Authorised fund 20.0 -
Kames Capital Ethical Equity Fund Authorised fund 10.0 -
BlackRock Dynamic Diversified Growth Fund Unit trusts - 12.6
BlackRock Absolute Return Bond Fund Unit trusts - 7.1

30.0 19.7

Current asset investments

UK investments
Goldman Sachs Reserves Fund Bank deposits 4.2 4.7
Deposits Bank deposits 15.0 23.1

19.2 27.8

Total 49.2 47.5

2015
Group

£m

2014
Group

£m

2015
Charity

£m

2014
Charity

£m

International emergency stocks 2.6 2.6 2.6 2.6
Medical equipment services stocks 1.7 0.9 1.7 0.9
Cards and gifts stocks 0.1 0.1 - -
Other stocks 0.5 0.4 0.5 0.4

Total 4.9 4.0 4.8 3.9

SECTION 10
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12. Debtors 

13. Creditors:  
      amounts falling due within one year 

2015
Group

£m

2014
Group

£m

2015
Charity

£m

Restated 
2014

Charity
£m

Trade debtors 6.6 5.8 6.6 5.8
Accrued income 4.3 6.1 4.2 6.0
Other debtors 0.8 1.1 0.8 0.9
Prepayments 5.1 5.3 5.1 5.3
Tax recoverable 4.8 4.9 4.8 4.9
Legacies receivable 13.4 11.4 13.4 11.4
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings - - 0.8 1.0

Total 35.0 34.6 35.7 35.3

All amounts shown under debtors fall due for payment within one year.

Charity comparatives for 2014 have been restated under the Charities SORP (FRS 102) for amounts of £0.3m owed to overseas subsidiaries, which were previously 
accounted for as branches.

All deferred income as at 31 December 2014 was recognised during 2015 and all deferred income as at 31 December 2015 was deferred during the year. Deferred income 
relates to amounts received in advance of entitlement.

Comparatives for 2014 have been restated under the Charities SORP (FRS 102) for the holiday pay accrual of £1.1m (see note 23 for details) and, in addition, the charity 
comparatives have been restated by an amount of £0.3m owed by overseas subsidiaries, which were previously accounted for as branches.    

2015
Group

£m

Restated  
2014

Group
£m

2015
Charity

£m

Restated  
2014

Charity
£m

Trade creditors 2.8 3.2 2.8 3.2
Accruals 7.0 8.6 6.9 8.6
Other creditors 1.5 1.5 1.4 1.2
Deferred income 2.0 2.2 2.0 2.2

Taxes and social security costs 1.8 1.8 1.8 1.8

Total 15.1 17.3 14.9 17.0
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14. Provisions for liabilities and charges 

Leasehold dilapidations relate to properties where the British Red Cross has a legal responsibility as tenant for such costs. The timing of payments will be in line with the exit 
dates from leasehold properties and the dilapidations payments are estimated, based on historical payments. 

Provisions at 1 January 2015 have been restated under the Charities SORP (FRS 102) for the pension scheme deficit reduction payments, which relate to the deficit recovery 
plan in place in respect of the British Red Cross’ membership of the Pension Trust’s Growth Plan. As further explained at note 16, the £3.3m provision as at 31 December 2015 
shown above represents the present value of contributions payable by the British Red Cross that result from the terms of the deficit recovery plan in respect of the Growth Plan.

Rehabilitation
commitments

£m

Leasehold
dilapidations

£m

Pension scheme 
deficit reduction  

payments
£m

Total
£m

Group and charity

At 1 January 2015 0.4 1.2 2.9 4.5
Payments during the year (0.4) (0.1) (0.3) (0.8)
Increase in provision - - 0.7 0.7

At 31 December 2015 - 1.1 3.3 4.4

Amounts are expected to be incurred:
- within one year - 0.2 0.3 0.5
- beyond one year - 0.9 3.0 3.9

- 1.1 3.3 4.4

SECTION 10
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15. Staff costs and trustee expenses  

Redundancy costs included in expenditure in 2015 were £0.8m (2014: £0.5m).

The total amount of employee benefits received by key management personnel for their services during the year is £1.0m (2014: £1.0m).

Redundancy costs included in expenditure during the year were £0.8m (2014: £0.5m).

2015
£m

2014
£mTotal staff costs (including casual staff) for the year were as follows:

Salary costs 86.2 79.2
National insurance costs 7.0 6.6
Pensions costs for defined contribution schemes 2.8 2.1
Pensions costs for defined benefit schemes 0.7 0.6

96.7 88.5

The number of employees whose total employee benefits (excluding employer pension costs) 
amounted to over £60,000 in the year were as follows:

2015 2014

£60,001 - £70,000 16 21
£70,001 - £80,000 9 5
£80,001 - £90,000 3 5
£90,001 - £100,000 5 7
£100,001 - £110,000 3 2
£110,001 - £120,000 2 2
£120,001 - £130,000 - 1
£150,001 - £160,000 - 1
£170,001 - £180,000 1 -
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Trustees’ expenses are for travel and accommodation costs.

None of the trustees received any remuneration during the year (2014: £nil).

The average number of full time equivalent staff employed by the British Red Cross during the year was as follows:
2015 2014

In the UK
Fundraising 214 215
Retail 631 593
UK services 1,730 1,628
First aid services 499 463
International services 108 95
Other 335 311

Overseas
International services 52 53

Total employed by FTE 3,569 3,358

Total employed by headcount 4,152 3,935

The average number of volunteers working for the British Red Cross during the year was as follows: 2015 2014

In the UK
Fundraising 2,776 2,789
Retail 6,345 6,420
UK services 7,862 9,167
First aid services 4,439 5,355
International services 255 255

Total 21,677 23,986

2015
£000

2014
£000Trustees’ expenses:

Expenses incurred by trustees and reimbursed by the British Red Cross 11 10
Expenses incurred by the British Red Cross on behalf of trustees 10 23
Trustees’ indemnity insurance cover cost 16 16

2015 2014
Number of trustees receiving expenses 13 16

SECTION 10

Volunteers play a crucial role in delivering our services in the UK and help raise money to fund our activities. Services such as event first aid, independent living and emergency 
support rely on volunteers to deliver the services to beneficiaries. Volunteers also play a large role in operating our retail shops across the UK and assist with our fundraising efforts.

Every day. Every way.

15. Staff costs and trustee expenses continued
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UK Office 
scheme

£m

Scottish 
scheme

£m
2015 Total

£m

Restated
2014 Total

£m
Current service cost (0.2) - (0.2) (0.2)

Interest cost on scheme liabilities (0.9) - (0.9) (1.1)
Expected return on plan assets 1.1 - 1.1 1.3
Net finance credit 0.2 - 0.2 0.2

Actuarial gain / (loss) 0.3 (0.3) - 0.3

Movement in restriction of surplus - (0.4) (0.4) -

Net actuarial (loss) / gain recognised 0.3 (0.7) (0.4) 0.3

UK Office 
scheme

£m

Scottish 
scheme

£m
2015 Total

£m

Restated
2014 Total

£m

Fair value of scheme assets 30.9 10.4 41.3 41.3
Present value of scheme obligations (25.6) (9.7) (35.3) (35.9)
Restriction of scheme surplus - (0.4) (0.4) -

Net surplus 5.3 0.3 5.6 5.4

16.  Pensions 

New British Red Cross staff are entitled to join the British Red Cross Group Personal Pension Plan provided by Legal & General. Staff had previously 
been entitled to join the British Red Cross Pension Fund (“UK Office scheme”), Scottish Branch British Red Cross Society Retirement Benefits Scheme 
(“Scottish scheme”) or The Pensions Trust’s Growth Plan. These three schemes are all closed to new entrants.

UK Office and Scottish defined benefit pension schemes
The assets of these pension schemes are held in separate trustee-administered funds. The schemes are subject to triennial valuations with the last full 
valuation being carried out as at 31 December 2013 for the UK Office scheme and 1 January 2015 for the Scottish scheme. These valuations were 
updated at 31 December 2014 and 2015 by independent actuaries on an FRS 102 basis. 

The amounts charged to statement of financial activities are:

The latest triennial valuation for the Scottish scheme as at 1 January 2015 showed a deficit of £0.8m. A pension deficit recovery plan is in place in 
respect of the Scottish scheme, which aims to eliminate the ongoing funding deficit by 1 February 2016. The additional employer contribution required 
from the British Red Cross as part of this recovery plan is £0.4m, which was paid in January 2016. The British Red Cross expects to contribute 24.9 per 
cent per annum as a percentage of members’ salaries.

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are: 

The British Red Cross has recognised the net scheme surpluses to the extent that it is considered recoverable through the future service cost of the 
remaining members. 

The current service cost will change as the members of the schemes approach retirement because the schemes are closed to new members.
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16.  Pensions  continued

Changes in present value of scheme obligation during the year:

               UK Office scheme                      Scottish scheme
2015

£m
2014

£m
2015

£m
2014

£m

At 1 January 26.3 23.1 9.6 8.2

Service cost 0.2 0.2 - -
Interest cost 0.9 1.0 0.3 0.4
Member contributions 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1
Benefits paid (1.0) (0.9) (0.3) (0.3)
Actuarial (gain) / loss due to changes in assumptions (0.9) 3.1 (0.4) 1.4
Actuarial (gain) / loss due to experience - (0.3) 0.4 (0.2)

At 31 December 25.6 26.3 9.7 9.6

Change in the value of plan assets during the year:

               UK Office scheme                      Scottish scheme

2015
£m

Restated
2014

£m
2015

£m

Restated
2014

£m

At 1 January 31.2 27.2 10.1 8.5

Interest on assets 1.0 1.3 0.4 0.4
Employer contributions 0.2 0.1 0.5 0.5
Member contributions 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1
Benefits paid (1.0) (0.9) (0.3) (0.3)
Actuarial (loss) / gain on plan assets (0.6) 3.4 (0.4) 0.9

At 31 December 30.9 31.2 10.4 10.1

Accounts
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The major categories of plan assets as percentage of total plan assets are:

                   UK Office scheme                           Scottish scheme

2015 2014 2015 2014

Equities 29% 40% 58% 57%
Gilts 60% 59% 32% 32%
Bonds 11% 0% 10% 11%
Cash 0% 1% 0% 0%

100% 100% 100% 100%

                   UK Office scheme                           Scottish scheme

2015 2014 2015 2014

Actual return on plan assets in the year 0.4 4.7 - 1.3



Other schemes

The British Red Cross also contributes to the British Red Cross Group Personal Pension Plan and other contribution schemes for certain employees. In 
2015 the total cost of these contributions was £2.8m (2014: £2.8m) and the balance outstanding at 31 December 2015 was £0.3m (2014: £0.3m). 

Staff were able to join The Pensions Trust’s Growth Plan (‘the Growth Plan’) until April 2007. The Growth Plan is a multi-employer defined benefit 
pension scheme. The assets of the scheme are co-mingled for investment purposes and as a result it is not possible to either break down scheme 
assets or analyse the ongoing funding deficit by individual employer. Accordingly, due to the nature of the plan, the accounting charge for the year 
under FRS 102 represents only the employer contributions payable. 

There is a contingent liability in the event that the British Red Cross were to withdraw its membership of the Growth Plan. The scheme’s actuaries 
valued the withdrawal liability at £7.5m as at 30 September 2012. This valuation has been rolled forward, assuming actuarial assumptions and 
membership are consistent, to 31 December 2015 resulting in an estimated £6.3m contingent liability (2014: £6.4m). 

The results of the Growth Plan scheme valuation as at 30 September 2014 show a deficit of £176m. A recovery plan has been established which 
aims to eliminate the funding deficit over a period of 12 years and 6 months from April 2016. The additional employer contributions required from the 
British Red Cross as part of this recovery plan are £0.3m per annum. In line with the requirements of the SORP and FRS 102, the present value of 
contributions payable under the terms of this recovery plan must be recognised as a liability and this is detailed at note 14 to the consolidated financial 
statements. 

The British Red Cross expects to contribute 1% per annum as a percentage of Growth Plan members’ salaries.

Principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date in respect of both schemes were:
2015 2014

Discount rate 3.7% pa 3.4% pa
Consumer price inflation (CPI) 2.5% pa 2.4% pa
Salary increases 2.5% pa 2.4% pa
UK Office scheme pension increases 
   Capped at 5.0% 2.5% pa 2.4% pa
   Capped at 3.0% 2.3% pa 2.2% pa
   Capped at 2.5% 2.1% pa 2.0% pa
Scottish scheme pension increases 
   Pre-1997 increases 0.0% pa 0.0% pa
   Between 1997 and 2005 increases 2.5% pa 2.4% pa
   Post-2005 increases 2.1% pa 2.0% pa

Mortality assumptions in respect of both schemes adopted at the year end  
imply the following life expectancy at 65: 2015

Years
2014

Years

Pensioners: male 22.7 22.6
Pensioners: female 25.2 25.1
Non-pensioners: male 24.9 24.8
Non-pensioners: female 27.5 27.4
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Operating lease charges during 2015 were £6.9m for property (2014: £6.2m) and £2.1m for plant and machinery (2014: £1.8m).

17. Obligations under operating leases  

18. Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

Property
£m

Other
£m

2015
Total

£m

2014
Total

£mThe total of future minimum lease payments on operating leases expiring:

Within one year 0.6 0.2 0.8 0.8
In two to five years 13.5 5.5 19.0 16.7
After five years 4.7 0.2 4.9 4.9

Total 18.8 5.9 24.7 22.4

2015
£m

2014
£m

Cash at bank and in hand 11.6 4.9
Loan due after one year (0.3) (0.3)
Current asset investments 19.2 27.8

Total 30.5 32.4

There were no material transactions with related parties during the year (2014: none).

Trustees and other related parties, including key management personnel, made donations to the British Red Cross totalling £20,000 during the year.

There were £0.4m of capital commitments at 31 December 2015 (2014: £0.6m).

19. Related parties

20. Capital commitments
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The British Red Cross regularly pledges support to programmes led by the International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies (IFRC), 
International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC) or other National Societies. In addition to the expenditure recognised in the financial statements, the 
British Red Cross had outstanding pledges to the programmes disclosed below. Full payment of the pledges is contingent on the outcome of British 
Red Cross reviews of the programmes and therefore the liability has not been recognised at the year end. The commitments will be funded through 
general funds, restricted appeal income or restricted funding from individual and institutional donors.

21. Programme commitments  

End date
2015

£m
2014

£m

Kenya Red Cross Society - Kenya Water and Sanitation 2018 3.3 0.4

Kenya Red Cross Society - Kenya Disaster Managament capacity 2018 1.6 1.2

Nepal Red Cross Society - Kathmandu Valley Integrated Urban Recovery programme, Nepal Earthquake 2017 1.4 -

South Africa Red Cross Society - KwaZulu Natal Integrated HIV & TB programme 2011-16 (Phase II) 2016 1.3 0.6

Philippine Red Cross - Typhoon Haiyan Ilo Ilo Recovery 2016 1.1 5.1

Bangladesh Red Crescent Society - Bangladesh Vulnerability to Resilience Bhola 2015-2017 2017 0.9 -

Bangladesh Red Crescent Society - Bangladesh Kurigram WASH Project for Year 2015-2018 2018 0.8 -

Bangladesh Red Crescent Society - Barisal Urban V2R Project for year 2015-2018 2018 0.7 -

IFRC - DFID and HSBC to Serbia Population Movement 2016 0.6 -

Lesotho Red Cross Society - Lesotho Water and Sanitation 2018 0.6 1.0

Bangladesh Red Crescent Society - Kurigram DRR Project for Year 2015 - 2017 2017 0.4 -

Nepal Red Cross Society - Nepal Integrated Disaster Resilience (Jhapa) 2017 0.4 0.6

Keyna Red Cross Society - Strengthening Resilience in Kainuk, Kenya 2017 0.3 0.6

Myanmar Red Cross - Water and Sanitation / Maternal, Neonatal & Child Health programme 2017 0.3 0.4

IFRC - DFID Disaster Risk Management Capacity Research Grant 2015 - 0.6

Other programmes 1.9 1.2

Total 15.6 11.7

SECTION 10
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22. Analysis of net assets between funds  

Unrestricted
£m

Restricted
£m

2015
Total

£m

 Restated 
2014 Total

£mGroup

Tangible fixed assets 57.5 6.4 63.9 61.1
Fixed asset investments - 30.0 30.0 19.7
Net current assets 46.0 9.6 55.6 54.0
Creditors: amounts falling due in more than one year - (0.3) (0.3) (0.3)
Provisions for liabilities and charges (4.4) - (4.4) (4.5)
Defined benefit pension scheme surplus 5.6 - 5.6 5.4

Net assets 104.7 45.7 150.4 135.4

Unrestricted
£m

Restricted
£m

2015
Total

£m

Restated  
2014 Total

£mCharity

Tangible fixed assets 57.5 4.2 61.7 58.9
Fixed asset investments - 30.0 30.0 19.7
Net current assets 46.0 9.1 55.1 53.5
Creditors: amounts falling due in more than one year - (0.3) (0.3) (0.3)
Provisions for liabilities and charges (4.4) - (4.4) (4.5)
Defined benefit pension scheme surplus 5.6 - 5.6 5.4

Net assets 104.7 43.0 147.7 132.7

Comparatives for 2014 have been restated under the Charities SORP (FRS 102). See note 23 for details.
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23. Transition to Charities SORP (FRS 102)  

SECTION 10

Funds as at 1 January 2014 reconciliation Note

Group 
Unrestricted 

funds  
£m

Group 
Restricted 

funds  
£m

Group  
Total  

funds  
£m

Charity 
Unrestricted 

funds  
£m

Charity 
Restricted 

funds  
£m

Charity  
Total  

funds  
£m

Funds as at 1 January 2014 as previously stated 90.2 39.6 129.8 90.2 39.6 129.8
Provision for pension scheme deficit reduction 
payments (i) (3.0) - (3.0) (3.0) - (3.0)
Holiday pay accrual (ii) (1.0) - (1.0) (1.0) - (1.0)
Three overseas branches reclassified as subsidiaries (iii) - - - - (1.3) (1.3)
Defined benefit pension schemes adjustment (iv) 3.6 - 3.6 3.6 - 3.6

Funds as at 1 January 2014 under the Charities 
SORP (FRS 102) 89.8 39.6 129.4 89.8 38.3 128.1

Funds as at 31 December 2014 reconciliation Note

Group 
Unrestricted 

funds  
£m

Group 
Restricted 

funds  
£m

Group  
Total  

funds  
£m

Charity 
Unrestricted 

funds  
£m

Charity 
Restricted 

funds 
£m

Charity  
Total  

funds  
£m

Funds as at 31 December 2014 as previously stated 90.6 44.4 135.0 90.6 42.9 133.5
Provision for pension scheme deficit reduction 
payments (i) (2.9) - (2.9) (2.9) - (2.9)
Holiday pay accrual (ii) (1.1) - (1.1) (1.1) - (1.1)
Three overseas branches reclassified as subsidiaries (iii) - - - - (1.2) (1.2)

Defined benefit pension schemes adjustment (iv) 4.4 - 4.4 4.4 - 4.4

Funds as at 31 December 2014 under the 
Charities SORP (FRS 102) 91.0 44.4 135.4 91.0 41.7 132.7

These accounts for the year ended 31 December 2015 are the first accounts of the British Red Cross that comply with the Charities SORP (FRS 102). 
The date of transition to the Charities SORP (FRS 102) is 1 January 2014.

The following reconciliations detail the differences between funds and the net movement in funds presented previously and the amounts as restated to 
comply with the Charities SORP (FRS 102).

Every day. Every way.
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2014 net movement in funds reconciliation Note

Group 
Unrestricted 

net 
movement 

in funds 
£m

Group 
Restricted 

net 
movement 

in funds 
£m

Group 
Total net 

movement 
in funds  

£m

Charity 
Unrestricted 

net 
movement 

in funds  
£m

Charity 
Restricted 

net 
movement 

in funds 
£m

Charity 
Total net 

movement in 
funds  

£m

2014 net movement in funds as previously stated 0.4 4.8 5.2 0.4 3.3 3.7
Movement in provision for pension scheme deficit 
reduction payments (i) 0.1 - 0.1 0.1 - 0.1
Movement in holiday pay accrual (ii) (0.1) - (0.1) (0.1) - (0.1)
Three overseas branches reclassified as subsidiaries (iii) - - - - 0.1 0.1
Defined benefit pension schemes adjustment (iv) 0.8 - 0.8 0.8 - 0.8

2014 net movement in funds under the 
Charities SORP (FRS 102) 1.2 4.8 6.0 1.2 3.4 4.6

(i)  The provision for pension scheme deficit reduction payments relates to the deficit recovery plan in place in respect of the British Red Cross’ 
membership of the Pension Trust’s Growth Plan. As further explained at note 16, and in line with the Charities SORP (FRS 102), the provision shown 
above represents the present value of contributions payable by the British Red Cross that result from the terms of the deficit recovery plan in respect of 
the Growth Plan.

(ii)  FRS 102 requires recognition of the cost of all employee benefits to which employees have become entitled during the period. This has necessitated 
the creation of an accrual for the value of annual leave and other holiday allowances that staff are entitled to and have carried forward from one calendar 
year to the next.

(iii)  Overseas entities that are separately locally incorporated and were previously accounted for as branches, are now, under the Charities SORP (FRS 
102), excluded from being accounted for as branches and are instead accounted for as subsidiary undertakings. This revised accounting treatment 
applies to our operations in the Turks and Caicos Islands, Bermuda and the Cayman Islands.

(iv)  The defined benefit pension schemes adjustment refers to the surplus on the British Red Cross Pension Fund. Previously, under FRS 17, the 
amount of the surplus which could be recognised was restricted to the present value of the expected cost to the British Red Cross of future benefit 
accrual and any pre-agreed refunds. Under the Charities SORP (FRS 102), the full surplus can be recognised if the British Red Cross is able to claim a 
refund of surplus in the future. An adjustment has accordingly been made to recognise the full surplus, in line with this revised accounting treatment.

There are two other significant restatements, which do not affect funds or net movement in funds:

>  2014 expenditure comparatives have been restated under the Charities SORP (FRS 102) for £3.1m of governance costs, which were previously 
disclosed separately on the SOFA. Under the Charities SORP (FRS 102), governance costs are included under support costs and allocated across the 
other categories of expenditure.

>  2014 ‘donations and legacies’ comparatives have been restated by £2.2m due to the Charities SORP (FRS 102) requirement that fundraising income 
received in exchange for supplying goods and services must be included under ‘other trading activities’.
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24. Accounting estimates and judgements  
In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are required to make estimates and judgements. The matters considered 
below are considered to be the most important in understanding the judgements that are involved in preparing the financial 
statements and the uncertainties that could impact the amounts reported in the results of operations, financial position and 
cashflows. Accounting policies are shown at note 1 to the financial statements. 

Programme commitments

As explained at note 21, the British Red Cross regularly pledges support to international programmes. In addition to 
expenditure recognised in the financial statements, the British Red Cross has outstanding pledges in respect of these 
programmes at the year end. Full payment of pledges is contingent on outcomes of regular programme reviews, where 
judgement is exercised as to satisfactory progress being made against agreed programme outcomes. 

Cost allocation

Costs not attributable to a single activity are allocated or apportioned to activities on a basis consistent with identified 
cost drivers for that cost category. Cost drivers utilised include head count and floor space and judgement is exercised in 
applying cost drivers to cost categories. 

Actuarial assumptions in respect of defined benefit pension schemes

The application of actuarial assumptions relating to defined benefit pension schemes is incorporated in the financial 
statements in accordance with FRS 102. In applying FRS 102, advice is taken from independent qualified actuaries. In this 
context, significant judgement is exercised in a number of areas, including future changes in salaries and inflation, mortality 
rates and the selection of appropriate discount rates. 

Pension scheme deficit reduction payments

As explained at note 14, there is a deficit reduction plan in place in respect of the British Red Cross’ membership of 
the Pension Trust’s Growth Plan. FRS 102 requires a liability to be recognised in respect of the present value of future 
contributions payable under the terms of the deficit recovery plan. The incorporation of this liability in the financial statements 
involves the exercise of judgement in a number of areas, including the selection of an appropriate discount rate. 

Pension scheme contingent liability

As explained at note 16, there is a contingent liability in the event that the British Red Cross were to withdraw its 
membership of the Pension Trust’s Growth Plan. The independent qualified actuaries advising the Pensions Trust in respect 
of the contingent withdrawal liability exercise significant judgement in determining the amount of that liability. Judgement 
is exercised in a number of areas, including future changes in salaries and inflation, mortality rates and the selection of 
appropriate discount rates.

SECTION 10

Every day. Every way.

Accounts
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25. Grant acknowledgements  
During the year the Big Lottery Fund and Heritage Lottery Fund provided grants for the following projects:

Players of People’s Postcode Lottery grant 
During the year players of People’s Postcode Lottery provided grants for the following project: 
>  Zimbabwe Food and Economic Insecurity - £200,000.

Cabinet Office grants 
During the year the Cabinet Office provided grants for the following projects: 
>  Cabinet Office (Office for Civil Society) and the Tripartite Group – Supporting Older People and Reducing Pressure on Hospitals Fund – £168,810 
>  Cabinet Office Centre for Social Action – Carers Social Action Support Fund - £57,883.

Nesta / Cabinet Office grant 
During the year, Nesta and the Cabinet Office’s Centre for Social Action Innovation Fund provided a grant for the FirstCall Support at Home service, 
Leicester City and Rutland - £300,000. 

Nesta / Big Lottery Fund  
Nesta (working as a portfolio partner for the Big Lottery Fund) have also provided a development grant for Accelerating Ideas, scale up of FirstCall 
Support at Home service - £15,220.    

Balances as at 31 December 2015 are included within our restricted funds.

Purpose of grant

Balance  
1 January 

2015
£000

Income
£000

Expenditure
£000

Balance  
31 December 

2015
£000

Big Lottery Fund grants
Birmingham Refugee and Asylum Seeker Orientation and Support Service 49 96 (116) 29
Gofal (Care) 21 206 (220) 7
Greater Manchester Refugee Support Partnership - 344 (247) 97
Holistic Support to Destitute Refugees and Asylum Seekers in London - 50 (34) 16
Inspired Action - Keeping the Spirit of 2012 Alive 7 243 (221) 29
Leicestershire Refugee and Asylum Seeker Orientation and Support Service 11 14 (25) -
Liverpool Asylum Outreach and Support Project 63 89 (114) 38
Neighbourhood Links 36 100 (105) 31
Nottingham and Derby Refugee and Asylum Seeker Orientation and Support Service 19 36 (54) 1
Refugee and Asylum Seeker Orientation and Destitution Service - Portsmouth 28 106 (102) 32
Refugee and Asylum Seeker Support Partnership - Leicester - 1 - 1
South and West Yorkshire Refugee and Asylum Seeker Service 27 129 (129) 27
St Helens Home Support Project - 103 (41) 62
Torbay Navigators - 135 (61) 74
Young Carers Have a Say in Shropshire 6 - (6) -

Heritage Lottery Fund grants
VAD Indexes Online (6) 32 (15) 11
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David Peppiatt,  
executive director of international 
Norman McKinley,  
executive director of UK operations 
Zoe Abrams, executive director of 
communications and engagement  
(from 7 December 2015) 
Rosie Slater, chief information officer 
(from 13 April 2015)

External Auditors
Deloitte LLP 
2 New Street Square, London EC4A 
3BZ

Bankers
National Westminster Bank plc 
City of London Office, PO Box 12258 
1 Princes Street, London EC2R 8PA

External legal advisers
Withers LLP, Old Bailey 
London EC4M 7EG

Investment managers
Kames Capital plc, Kames House 
3 Lochside Crescent,  
Edinburgh EH12 9SA

Every day. Every way.



REPORT AND ACCOUNTS  2015 103

Everyone at the British Red Cross would like 
to thank each individual and organisation 
who supported our work in 2015.

Our supporters were compassionate and 
swift in their response during emergencies, 
and their generosity enabled our vital ongoing 
work in the UK and overseas to continue. 
We particularly want to thank everyone 
who supports us regularly, giving us the 
confidence to plan ahead. We gratefully 
remember each and every one of our 
supporters who thoughtfully left us a gift in 
their will. We would also like to say thank 
you to all our local fundraising committees 
and volunteers for their hard work and 
commitment, which we couldn’t do without.

We would like to give special thanks to:

AstraZeneca 
Aviva PLC 
Band Aid Charitable Trust 
Barclays 
Beiersdorf UK Ltd 
Big Lottery Fund 
The Bradbury Foundation 
Bromhead Medical Charity 
Cabinet Office 
Canon Europe 
Children’s Investment Fund Foundation 
Comic Relief 
Constance Travis Charitable Trust 
The Co-operative Group 
Department for International Development 
European Commission 
Freemasons’ Grand Charity 
Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer LLP 
GSK 
The Guardian 
HSBC 
Isle of Man International  
 Development Committee 
Jersey Overseas Aid Commission

John Lewis Partnership 
Khoo Teck Puat UK Foundation 
KPMG 
Land Rover 
Lifetime & Humanity Members of the  
 Tiffany Circle 
Marsh & McLennan Companies 
Nesta 
Players of People’s Postcode Lottery 
Scottish Government 
Spirit of 2012 
Standard Chartered 
Tesco PLC 
Unilever 
Vitol Foundation 
Welsh Government

Thanks also to members of the following 
committees:

The Bedfordshire Christmas Fair  
 Open Gardens and event committees 
The ‘Call My Bluff’ Wine Tasting Committee 
The Cambridge Appeals Committee 
The Cambridge Lecture Committee 
East Herts Fundraising Committee 
Keith Hague and the members of the      
 International & Medical Fundraising Board 
Hampshire Ball Committee 
Hayling Island Fundraising Group 
The Huntingdon Appeals Committee 
Invitation Events Committee – Devon 
London Christmas Fair Committee 
London Christmas Market Committee 
London Fundraising Committee 
North Baddesley Fundraising Group 
Maria Shammas MBE and the International    
 Fundraising Committee 
Tiffany Circle Steering Committee  
 and membership 
Uttlesford Centre Autumn Gift Fair Committee 
Mrs Jane Walker and the  
 Lothian Ball Committee 
Young Tiffany Circle

Thanks also to:

Brendan Ainscough and Ainscough  
 Training Services Ltd 
Amazon 
The Bay Tree Charitable Trust 
The Beit Trust 
Bliss Family Charity 
Bloomberg L. P. 
Dr E Boyd and Miss J A Boyd 
The Cargill Trust 
Celtic FC Foundation 
Channel 4 
The City of London Corporation 
The City of London Corporation’s Charity 
 The City Bridge Trust 
Sheila Coulton Charitable Trust 
Mr Terry Cross of Delta Print and Packaging 
The Alice Ellen Cooper Dean  
 Charitable Foundation 
Disney 
DNV GL 
Foresters 
Guernsey Overseas Aid Commission 
Hanover Acceptances 
Heritage Lottery Fund 
The Hugh Symons Charitable Trust 
Johnson Matthey 
Kavli Trust 
The Bernard Lewis Family Charitable Trust 
Lifescan Scotland Ltd 
Linklaters LLP 
Moondance Foundation 
The Dowager Countess Eleanor Peel Trust 
Penguin 
Pentland Brands 
Philips UK 
Generous donors to Save a Heart Appeal 
Khoi Tu 
Wales Council for Voluntary Action 
Mrs Sally Weld 
Garfield Weston Foundation 
Zochonis Charitable Trust 

Thank you
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